
  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
  
 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

Date:   3/10/2025 
Time:  7:00 p.m. 
Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 846 9472 6242 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

Members of the public can listen to the meeting and participate using the following methods. 
 
How to participate in the meeting 

• Access the live meeting, in-person, at the City Council Chambers   
• Access the meeting real-time online at:  

zoom.us/join – Meeting ID# 846 9472 6242 
• Access the meeting real-time via telephone (listen only mode) at:  

(669) 900-6833 
Regular Meeting ID # 846 9472 6242 
Press *9 to raise hand to speak 

• Submit a written comment online up to 1-hour before the meeting start time: 
planning.commission@menlopark.gov* 
Please include the agenda item number related to your comment. 

 
*Written comments are accepted up to 1 hour before the meeting start time. Written messages are 
provided to the Planning Commission at the appropriate time in their meeting.  

Subject to change: The format of this meeting may be altered or the meeting may be canceled. You may 
check on the status of the meeting by visiting the city website menlopark.gov. The instructions for logging on 
to the webinar and/or the access code is subject to change. If you have difficulty accessing the webinar, 
please check the latest online edition of the posted agenda for updated information 
(menlopark.gov/agendas). 
  

  

https://zoom.us/join
https://zoom.us/join
http://menlopark.gov/
http://menlopark.gov/agendas


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
March 10, 2025 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Regular Meeting 
 
A. Call To Order 

 
B. Roll Call 

 
C. Reports and Announcements 

 
D.  Public Comment  

 Under “Public Comment,” the public may address the Commission on any subject not listed on the 
agenda. Each speaker may address the Commission once under public comment for a limit of three 
minutes. You are not required to provide your name or City of residence, but it is helpful. The 
Commission cannot act on items not listed on the agenda and, therefore, the Commission cannot 
respond to non-agenda issues brought up under Public Comment other than to provide general 
information. 
 

E.  Consent Calendar 

E1. Approval of minutes from the February 24, 2025 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 

F.  Public Hearing 

F1. Use Permit/Thomas James Homes/670 Cambridge Ave.: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing single-story, two-
unit multifamily residence and accessory building and construct a new two-story, single-family 
residence and detached garage on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the R-2 
(Low Density Apartment) district, and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. The proposal also includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is a 
permitted use and not subject to discretionary review. The project includes one development-
related heritage tree removal which was reviewed and conditionally approved by the City Arborist. 
(Staff Report #25-009-PC) 

 
F2. Use Permit/Karen Staubach/340 Nova Ln.: 

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit to demolish an existing single-story, 
single-family residence and a detached garage and construct a new two-story, single-family 
residence on a substandard lot with regard to width, depth, and area in the R-1-U (Single Family 
Urban Residential) zoning district, and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new construction or conversion of small 
structures. The proposal also includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU) which is a 
permitted use and not subject to discretionary review. (Staff Report #25-010-PC) 

 
G.  Public Meeting 

G1. Housing Element Annual Progress Report/City of Menlo Park: 
Consider and adopt a resolution recommending the City Council accept the 2024 annual progress 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Agenda 
March 10, 2025 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

report regarding the status and implementation of the City’s 2023-2031 General Plan Housing 
Element; the Housing Element annual progress report is not considered a project under CEQA. 
Continue to the meeting of March 24, 2025  

 
G2. Environmental Justice Element Annual Progress Report/City of Menlo Park: 

Consider and adopt a resolution recommending the City Council accept the 2024 annual progress 
report regarding the status and implementation of the City’s General Plan Environmental Justice 
Element; the Environmental Justice Element annual progress report is not considered a project 
under CEQA. Continue to the meeting of March 24, 2025 

 
H. Informational Items 

H1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule – The upcoming Planning Commission meetings 
are listed here, for reference. No action will be taken on the meeting schedule, although individual 
Commissioners may notify staff of planned absences. 

 
• Regular Meeting: March 24, 2025 
• Regular Meeting: April 14, 2025 

 
I.  Adjournment 
 

At every regular meeting of the Planning Commission, in addition to the public comment period 
where the public shall have the right to address the Planning Commission on any matters of public 
interest not listed on the agenda, members of the public have the right to directly address the 
Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by the chair, either 
before or during the Planning Commission’s consideration of the item. 
 
At every special meeting of the Planning Commission, members of the public have the right to 
directly address the Planning Commission on any item listed on the agenda at a time designated by 
the chair, either before or during consideration of the item. For appeal hearings, appellant and 
applicant shall each have 10 minutes for presentations.  
 
If you challenge any of the items listed on this agenda in court, you may be limited to raising only 
those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written 
correspondence delivered to the City of Menlo Park at, or before, the public hearing. 
 
Any writing that is distributed to a majority of the Planning Commission by any person in connection 
with an agenda item is a public record (subject to any exemption under the Public Records Act) and 
is available by request by emailing the city clerk at jaherren@menlopark.gov. Persons with 
disabilities, who require auxiliary aids or services in attending or participating in Planning 
Commission meetings, may call the City Clerk’s Office at 650-330-6620. 
 
Agendas are posted in accordance with Cal. Gov. Code §54954.2(a) or §54956. Members of the 
public can view electronic agendas and staff reports by accessing the city website at 
menlopark.gov/agendas and can receive email notifications of agenda postings by subscribing at 
menlopark.gov/subscribe. Agendas and staff reports may also be obtained by contacting City Clerk 
at 650-330-6620. (Posted: 3/5/2025) 

mailto:jaherren@menlopark.gov
https://menlopark.gov/agendas
https://menlopark.gov/susbscribe


  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Planning Commission 
 
 
REGULAR MEETING DRAFT MINUTES 

Date:   2/24/2025 

Time:  7:00 p.m. 

Location:  Zoom.us/join – ID# 846 9472 6242 and  
  City Council Chambers 
  751 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025 
 

A. Call To Order 
 
Chair Jennifer Schindler called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 

B. Roll Call 
 
Present: Jennifer Schindler (Chair), Andrew Ehrich (Vice Chair), Katie Behroozi, Linh Dan Do, Katie 
Ferrick, Misha Silin (arrived at 7:05 p.m.), Ross Silverstein 
  
Staff: Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner; Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner; Kyle Perata, 
Assistant Community Development Director; Eric Philips, Legal Counsel 
 

C. Reports and Announcements 
 

Assistant Community Development Director Kyle Perata said the City Council would hold a special 
meeting on March 4, 2025 for its review and discussion of the selection criteria used during the 
City’s Housing Element Update and at its March 11, 2025 meeting would review the appeal of the 
Planning Commission approval of the 320 Sheridan Drive project. 
 

D.  Public Comment 
  
 None  
  
E.  Consent Calendar  
 
E1. Approval of minutes from the January 27, 2025 Planning Commission meeting (Attachment) 
 
 Chair Schindler opened the item for public comment and closed public comment as no persons 

requested to speak. 
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ferrick/Behroozi) to approve the consent calendar consisting of the 

minutes from the January 27, 2025 Planning Commission meeting; passes 7-0. 
 
F.  Public Hearing 
 
F1. Use Permit Revision/Yarden Ben Arye/332 Barton Way: 

Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit revision for an existing nonconforming, 
two-story, single-family residence on a substandard lot in the R-1-U (Single Family Urban 

  

https://zoom.us/join


Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
February 24, 2025 
Page 2 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Residential) zoning district, and determine this action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15301’s Class 1 exemption for existing facilities. The original use permit was 
granted in 2006, and the revisions include a ground-floor addition at the front with a new second-
level deck on top. (Staff Report #25-007-PC) 

 
 Mr. Perata said staff had no updates to report. 
 
 Peter Aylaian, property owner, spoke on behalf of the project. 
 
 Commissioner Silverstein said he lived within 1000 feet of the subject property, and would not 

recuse as he did not have financial interest in the property nor have any conflict of interest for the 
project. 

 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing and closed it as no one requested to speak. 
 
 Commission discussion focused on the use permit revision process and support for the project. 
 
 ACTION: Motion and second (Ehrich/Silverstein) to adopt a resolution to approve the project as 

submitted; passes 7-0. 
 
F2. Use Permit, Architectural Control, Below Market Rate (BMR) Housing Agreement, Environmental 

Review/3705 Haven, LLC/3705 Haven Ave.: 
Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use permit, architectural control, and below market 
rate (BMR) housing agreement to demolish an existing single-story 10,361 square-foot commercial 
building, and construct an eight-story multi-family residential bonus-level development project with 
112 units on a 0.66-acre parcel, located in the R-MU-B (Residential Mixed Use-Bonus) zoning 
district. The project would use the City’s bonus level development allowance for increases in 
density, intensity (gross floor area), and height in exchange for the provision of community 
amenities. Additionally, the proposed project would utilize benefits pursuant to the State Density 
Bonus Law, which include additional units along with incentives, concessions, waivers and parking 
reductions under Gov. Code, § 65915. Specifically, the State Density Bonus Law allows for an 
increase from 66 to 112 units. In addition, the State Density Bonus Law provides for waivers from 
development standards to increase the maximum height, increase the maximum floor area ratio 
(FAR), reduce the ground floor height requirement, reduce the ground floor transparency 
requirement, reduce the minimum number of parking spaces and modify parking stall dimension 
requirements, allow smaller BMR units, and deviate from building modulation and open space 
requirements. Additionally, the State Density Bonus Law entitles the proposed project to up to 
three concessions; the project includes requests for concessions to not replace an existing utility 
pole, remove the requirement to dual-plumb the buildings for future use of recycled water, and to 
allow rents for moderate income BMR housing units to use the rental amount permitted by the 
Health and Safety Code without being subject to the City’s BMR Guideline requirement that BMR 
rents be limited to no more than 75% of market rents. The proposed project would include a BMR 
housing agreement for a minimum of 15 percent of the base density units (10 units), affordable to 
seven very-low and three moderate income households. The BMR agreement would also apply to 
the project’s proposed three additional BMR units affordable to very-low income households as the 
community amenity in exchange for bonus level development and the project’s proposed one 
additional unit affordable to a moderate income household necessary to satisfy the requirements of 
State Density Bonus Law. The proposed project would include a total of 14 BMR units. Determine 
this action is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act under Public Resources Code 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
February 24, 2025 
Page 3 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Section 21083.3 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15183. The proposed project includes three 
development-related heritage tree removals, which the City Arborist has reviewed and 
conditionally approved. (Staff Report #25-008-PC) 

 
 Associate Planner Fahteen Khan said staff received 14 emails in support of the project and copies 

of those were on the back table.  
 
 Ms. Khan introduced the project. 
 
 Michelle Loeb, project architect, spoke on behalf of the project and presented the project. 
 
 Mr. Perata and Mr. Eric Philips, City Attorney’s Office, answered the Commission’s clarifying 

questions about State Density Bonus Law projects, environmental review for the project, and BMR 
income levels. Mr. Christian Sebrian, Land Use Counsel for the applicant, answered clarifying 
questions regarding parking and potential fees for that.  

 
 Chair Schindler opened the public hearing. 
 
 Public Comment: 
 

• Nels Delander, representative Carpenters Local 217 of San Mateo County, commented on the 
importance of hiring responsible general contractors utilizing apprenticeships and a labor 
workforce to build the project and that provided a living wage and health care.  

 
• Ali Sapirman, Housing Action Coalition, said they supported the project for the housing it 

provided and that the parking was not favored over housing. 
 
• David Beam expressed support for the project.  
 
• Annabelle Tzou expressed support for the project.  
 
• Joey (no last name given) expressed support for the project. 
 
• Chween An expressed support for the project. 
 
• Emma (no last name given) expressed support for the project.  
 
• Blas Rodriguez expressed support for the project. 
 
Chair Schindler closed the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner comments included support for the bicycle storage provided, support for increased 
housing, and concern that the project had no retail component in a Bayfront neighborhood lacking 
retail presence as that meant people had to leave area to shop, dine out and other things or use 
an app, which did not support the development of a neighborhood culture or community.  
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
February 24, 2025 
Page 4 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

Replying to Commissioner Ehrich, Planner Khan indicated the City had since December 2023 
developed a short list of consultants for request for proposals to help streamline the consultant 
selection process.  
 
Additional Commissioner comments included the importance of having held a study session on the 
project and appreciation for two entrances for vehicles, bicycles and pedestrians into the project 
providing better access, circulation, and safety, 
 
Replying to Commissioner Ferrick, Ms. Loeb said doing the combined standard and compact 104  
parking spaces versus 99 standard parking spaces allowed them to provide as much parking as  
they could within the space they had to provide a one to one ratio for tenant parking.  
 
After additional discussion with staff and Counsel about parking spaces and potential flexibility 
around those related to compact and standard parking spaces, Commissioner Ferrick suggested 
the Commission consider adding flexibility around parking to the approval, which the applicant 
agreed to as long as it was their discretion.  
 
Additional Commissioner comments included that the building design fully maximized the site, an 
appreciation for how the massing stepped back from the street and the creation of a series of the 
pool deck on the third floor and the roof decks on the fifth and eighth floors, potential use of 
commercial parking lots nearby for nighttime parking for tenant guests, concern of lack of bicycle 
lanes on Haven Avenue, and appreciation for the size mix of units.  
 
Commission discussion ensued with staff and Counsel as to the wording to allow for the parking 
flexibility desired. 

  
Motion and second (Behroozi/Schindler) to adopt a resolution approving a use permit, architectural 
control, and below market rate housing agreement, with a modification to the proposed waiver 
pursuant to the State Density Bonus Law to permit the project to provide 104 parking spaces (56 
code-compliant and 48 compact spaces), or, at the applicant’s election, as few as 99 parking 
spaces (provided that in no event shall the project provide fewer than 56 code-compliant parking 
spaces); determine that the action is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act; and 
direct staff to make conforming changes to the resolution and findings to reflect the modified 
waiver related to parking; passes 7-0. 

 
H. Informational Items 
 
H1. Future Planning Commission Meeting Schedule . 
 

• Regular Meeting: March 10, 2025 
 
Mr. Perata said the March 10 agenda was expected to have two single family home projects, a 2024 
Housing Element annual progress report and the first Environmental Justice Element annual report. 
 
• Regular Meeting: March 24, 2025 

 
I. Adjournment 
 

Chair Schindler adjourned the meeting at 9:35 p.m. 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Draft Minutes  
February 24, 2025 
Page 5 

 

  
City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov  

 
Staff Liaison: Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director  
 
Recording Secretary: Brenda Bennett 



Community Development 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/10/2025 
Staff Report Number:  25-009-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 

permit to demolish an existing single-story, two-unit 
multifamily residence and accessory building and 
construct a new two-story, single-family residence 
and detached garage on a substandard lot with 
regard to minimum lot width in the R-2 (Low Density 
Apartment) district, and determine this action is 
categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for new 
construction or conversion of small structures. The 
proposal also includes an attached accessory 
dwelling unit (ADU), which is a permitted use and 
not subject to discretionary review. The project 
includes one development-related heritage tree 
removal which was reviewed and conditionally 
approved by the City Arborist.  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit to demolish an 
existing single-story, two-unit, multifamily residence and detached garage and construct a new two-story, 
single-family residence and detached garage on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width in the 
R-2 (Low Density Apartment) zoning district at 670 Cambridge Avenue. The proposal includes an attached 
accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is a permitted use and not subject to discretionary review. The project 
includes one development-related heritage tree removal which was reviewed and conditionally approved by 
the City Arborist. The draft resolution, including the recommended actions and conditions of approval, is 
included as Attachment A. 

 

Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposed project. 

 

Background 

Site location 
Using Cambridge Avenue in the east-west orientation, the subject parcel sits on the north side of 
Cambridge Avenue between El Camino Real and University Drive, in the Allied Arts neighborhood. All 
properties in the immediate vicinity to the subject property are also located in the R-2 zoning district. The 
neighboring residences feature a mix of single-family and multifamily projects that vary between single-story 
and two-story structures, and represent a variety of styles including craftsman, ranch, Spanish and 



Staff Report #: 25-009-PC 
Page 2 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

contemporary. Many smaller, older residences have recently been replaced with larger two-story buildings. 
A location map is included as Attachment B. 

 

Analysis 
Project description 
The subject property is currently occupied by a single-story, two-unit, multifamily residence as well as a 
detached garage. The applicant is proposing to demolish all structures and construct a two-story, single-
family residence, consisting of three bedrooms and two bathrooms. The development would also include an 
attached, one-bedroom, one-bathroom accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on the front-right side of the structure, 
and a detached single-car garage at the rear-right corner of the parcel, accessed by a driveway from 
Cambridge Avenue. In order to comply with the City’s residential parking requirements, an additional 
uncovered off-street parking space would be located next to the driveway along the right elevation of the 
residence. Given that the subject parcel is located within one-half mile of “high-quality” transit, an additional 
off-street parking space for the ADU is not required. 
 
The lot is substandard with regard to minimum lot width, with a width of 60 feet where a minimum of 65 feet 
is required, meaning the proposal triggers the requirement for a use permit to develop a new two-story 
residence on a substandard lot. 
 
The proposed residence would meet all Zoning Ordinance requirements for setbacks, lot coverage, floor 
area limit (FAL), daylight plane, height, and parking. Of particular note with regard to Zoning Ordinance 
requirements: 
• The total proposed FAL would be 3,129 square feet, where a maximum of 2,942 square feet is permitted. 

– The project is allowed to exceed the FAL by up 399 square feet in order to accommodate the ADU. 

– The second floor floor area would be 1,103 square feet where a maximum of 1,103 square feet (15% 
of the total lot area) is permitted. 

• The main residence would have a right-side setback of 21.5 feet where a minimum of six feet is required. 
• The left-side setback is likewise larger than required, at 10.5 feet where six feet is the minimum for the 

main residence.  
 
The project plans and the applicant’s project description letter are included as Attachment A, Exhibits A and 
B respectively. A data table summarizing parcel and project attributes is included as Attachment C. 
 
Density 
The proposed project would replace two housing units with a single-family home and an ADU. While the 
City encourages the development of housing units, it should be noted that the subject property is a 
substandard lot, making the development of two units more challenging than on a standard lot, and the ADU 
would functionally serve as a second unit. 
 
Design and materials  
The applicant describes the style of the proposed residence as Spanish, with an earth-tone color palette. 
The structure would feature stucco siding and a concrete ‘S’ tile roof, along with aesthetically accurate 
decorative elements such as gable end details and coach lights. The windows are proposed with between-
the-glass grids, without inside and outside grids. 
 
The detached, single-car garage, proposed in the rear of the property, would create a desirable street 



Staff Report #: 25-009-PC 
Page 3 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

presence with reduced visibility of parked vehicles from the street, and would match the main residence’s 
materials and style. The side-facing second-floor windows would vary between three- and four-foot sill 
heights. The proposed increased setbacks on the left and right sides would help mitigate any potential 
privacy issues from neighboring properties. The proposed project, including the attached ADU and the 
detached garage, are architecturally cohesive and would present a harmonious contributor to the street. 
 
Trees and landscaping 
The applicant submitted an arborist report (Attachment A, Exhibit C), detailing the species, size, and 
conditions of on-site and nearby trees.  
 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition  

Tree number Species Size (DBH, in 
inches) Condition Notes Remove/Retain 

1* 
London plane 

tree 
27” Poor Heritage Remove 

2 Olive 27” Fair Heritage Retain 

3 Holly 7.5” Good Non-heritage Retain 

4 Maidenhair tree 14” Fair Non-heritage Remove 

5 Bottlebrush 11 Fair Non-heritage Remove 

6 Blue atlas cedar 28” Good Heritage Remove 

7 Bottlebrush 14.6” Good Non-heritage Retain 

8 Bottlebrush 13.2” Good Non-heritage Retain 

9 Acacia 14.6” Poor Non-heritage Remove 

    *Indicates a street tree. 
 
A total of nine trees were inventoried, with three trees being considered heritage trees, including one 
heritage street tree. The applicant has proposed to remove five trees, two of which are considered heritage 
with one being a street tree. The City Arborist has reviewed and tentatively approved a heritage tree 
removal permit for the removal of one tree based on health (tree#1) and one based on development (tree 
#6), pending Planning Commission approval of the project. The arborist report specifies additional 
protection measures during the construction process including hand digging, potholing or air spade for 
grade cuts and irrigating, mulching, and removal of lower foliage from trees that are to be protected prior to 
any grading. All recommended tree protection measures identified in the arborist report would be 
implemented and ensured as part of condition 1h The applicant has proposed an additional seven new 
trees around the project site which would bring the total number of trees to 11. 
 
Correspondence  
The applicant has stated in their project description letter that they contacted neighbors within a 300-foot 
radius of the subject site and provided them a copy of the proposed plans for review. They additionally 
hosted a virtual neighbor meeting on October 30th, 2024, though no neighbors attended. As of the writing of 
this report, staff has not received any correspondence regarding the project.  
 



Staff Report #: 25-009-PC 
Page 4 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design and materials of the proposed residence are compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood, which features a mixture of two-story and one-story homes with varied architectural styles. 
The proposed project would feature a consistent, harmonious architectural style between the main house, 
attached ADU and detached single-car garage at the rear of the parcel. The proposed location of the 
detached garage at the rear of the parcel would help obscure parked vehicles from view on the street and 
visually promote the main house as the primary contributor to the street scene. While the City encourages 
the development of housing units, it should be noted that the subject property is a substandard lot, making 
the development of two units more challenging than on a standard lot, and the ADU would functionally serve 
as a second unit. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve the proposed project. 
 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 

 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New construction or conversion of small 
structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 
 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution approving the use permit 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
A. Project Plans  
B. Project Description Letter 
C. Arborist Report 
D. Conditions of Approval 

B. Location Map 
C. Data Table 

  
 
Report prepared by: 
Connor Hochleutner, Assistant Planner 
 
Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principle Planner 



ATTACHMENT A

PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2025- XXX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO DEMOLISH AN 
EXISTING SINGLE-STORY, TWO-UNIT MULTIFAMILY RESIDENCE 
AND DETACHED GARAGE AND CONSTRUCT A NEW TWO-STORY, 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE WITH A DETACHED GARAGE ON A 
SUBSTANDARD LOT WITH REGARD TO MINIMUM LOT WIDTH IN 
THE R-2 (LOW DENSITY APARTMENT) ZONING DISTRICT AT 670 
CAMBRIDGE AVENUE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use 
permit to allow for the demolition of an existing single-story, two-unit, multifamily 
residence and detached garage and construct a new two-story, single-family residence 
and detached garage in the R-2 (Low Density Apartment) zoning district (collectively, the 
“Project”) from Thomas James Homes (“Applicant”) on behalf of SF23X (“Owner”) located 
at 670 Cambridge Avenue (APN 071-413-260) (“Property”). The Project use permit is 
depicted in and subject to the development plans and project description letter, which are 
attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and incorporated herein by this 
reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Low Density Apartment (R-2) district. The R-2 
district supports single-family residential uses; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed project would comply with all objective standards of the R-2 
district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed project includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), 
which is a permitted use and not subject to discretionary review; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an arborist report prepared by California Tree and 
Landscape Consulting, Inc., incorporated herein as Exhibit C, which was reviewed by the 
City Arborist and found to be in compliance with the Heritage Tree Ordinance, and 
proposes mitigation measures to adequately protect heritage trees in the vicinity of the 
project; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has proposed to remove two heritage trees which were 
reviewed and tentatively approved pending Planning Commission review as part of 
Heritage Tree Removal Permit number HTR2024-00157; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering, Building and 
Transportation Divisions and found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

A1



Resolution No. 2025-XXX 
 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, 
and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code 
Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s 
environmental impacts; and  

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, 
and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval 
of environmental documents for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to CEQA 
Guidelines§15303 (New construction or conversion of small structures); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 10, 2025, the 
Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the Project. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, 
and other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission 
finds the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by 
reference into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit for the construction of a new two-story, single-family residence 
on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, is granted based on the following 
findings, which are made pursuant to Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, 
under the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health, 
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the 
neighborhood of such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and 
improvements in the neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because: 
 

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of 
all adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in 

A2



Resolution No. 2025-XXX 

question and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in 
that, the proposed use permit is consistent with the R-2 zoning district and 
the General Plan because two-story residences are allowed to be 
constructed on substandard lots subject to issuance of a use permit and 
the project conforms to applicable zoning standards, including, but not 
limited to, maximum floor area limit and maximum building coverage.  

b. The proposed residence would include a conforming number of off-street
parking spaces because one covered and one uncovered parking space
outside the front setback would be required at a minimum, and one
covered and one uncovered parking spaces are provided.

c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and
ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety,
and welfare of the surrounding community as the proposed residence
would be located in a multifamily neighborhood and has been designed
in a way to complement the existing scale of surrounding homes.

Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit 
No. PLN2024-00041, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is 
conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit D.   

Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having 
reviewed and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

1. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal. Code
of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New construction or conversion of small
structures)

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY 

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, 
shall continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly 
and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 
10, 2025, by the following votes: 

A3



Resolution No. 2025-XXX 
 

AYES:   

NOES:  

ABSENT:   

ABSTAIN:  
 
 
IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this ______ day of March, 2025. 
 
PC Liaison Signature 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director  
City of Menlo Park 
 
Exhibits 

A. Project plans  
B. Project description letter  
C. Arborist report 
D. Conditions of approval 

 

A4



A5

EXHIBIT A



A6



A7



A8



A9



NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

A10



NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

A11



A12



A13



MATERIALS LEGEND:
1. CONCRETE 'S' TILE
2. STUCCO
3. DECORATIVE GABLE DETAIL
4. COMPOSITE WINDOW - ANDERSON 100 SERIES - CLEAR GLASS & GRILLES-BETWEEN-GLASS
5. FOAM TRIM
6. SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR W/ WINDOWS
7. COACH LIGHT
8. RAFTER TAIL

A14



MATERIALS LEGEND:
1. CONCRETE 'S' TILE
2. STUCCO
3. DECORATIVE GABLE DETAIL
4. COMPOSITE WINDOW - ANDERSON 100 SERIES - CLEAR GLASS & GRILLES-BETWEEN-GLASS
5. FOAM TRIM
6. SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR W/ WINDOWS
7. COACH LIGHT
8. RAFTER TAIL

A15



MATERIALS LEGEND:
1. CONCRETE 'S' TILE
2. STUCCO
3. DECORATIVE GABLE DETAIL
4. COMPOSITE WINDOW - ANDERSON 100 SERIES - CLEAR GLASS & GRILLES-BETWEEN-GLASS
5. FOAM TRIM
6. SECTIONAL GARAGE DOOR W/ WINDOWS
7. COACH LIGHT
8. RAFTER TAIL

A16



A17



A18



A19



A20



A21



A22



A23



A24



A25



A26



A27



A28



A29



A30



A31



A32



A33



A34



THOMAS JAMES HOMES 

255 Shoreline Dr Suite 428, 
Redwood City, CA 94065 

670 Cambridge Ave 

Project Description 

November 25, 2024 (revised) 

PARCEL GENERAL INFORMATION 

The 7356 square foot parcel located at 670 Cambridge Ave is a substandard lot, which is the reason we 

are requesting a Use Permit for our proposed two-story residence. According to the R-2 zoning 

ordinance, lots must be at least 7,000 square feet in area, 65 feet wide, and 100 feet deep. While the lot 

meets the area and depth requirements, its width is 60 feet, short of the required 65 feet prescribed in 

the ordinance. 

A total of nine trees were evaluated, including eight on-site and one off-site tree (refer to the Arborist 

Report and sheet L1.1). None of these trees are historically significant, though three trees are Protected 

Heritage trees. We propose the removal of three on-site trees and one off-site tree, three of which are 

non-protected and one that is a Heritage tree. Additionally, we plan to plant a new 24-inch box tree at 

the right rear of the home. To safeguard the remaining trees during construction, protective fencing and 

careful construction methods will be employed.  

EXISTING HOME TO BE DEMOLISHED 

The existing single-story home, built in 1954, consists of approximately 1,909 square feet with a 

detached 327-square-foot garage located in the right rear yard. This home will be demolished to make 

way for the new residence. 

PROPOSED SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCE 

We have proposed a two-story single-family residence in a Spanish style elevation with a earth-tone 

color palette. 

There is a good mix of older and newer homes in the neighborhood along Cambridge Ave. Homes 

feature a variety of materials including covered porches, gable and hip roof forms, board/batten, 

horizontal, and shingle siding, wood and brick accents, light and dark window frames, stucco, comp 

shingle and standing seam roofing. 

There are several newer 2-story homes down Pope Street with more Traditional style elevations using 

lap siding, stucco, hip/gable roofs, and light/dark accents similar to what we have proposed. 

A35

EXHIBIT B



 
 

 

 

 

 

THOMAS JAMES HOMES  

255 Shoreline Dr Suite 428, 
Redwood City, CA 94065 

 

 

Given the eclectic style of the neighborhood, we believe the proposed home will blend well. The overall 

footprint of our home is designed to be an open floor plan. We kept the front yard setback of our home 

to the required minimum creating a usable private yard space in the rear. The step back at the second 

story of the front elevation offers a scaled back appearance from the street to minimize massing. The 

new home will have 3 bedrooms and 2 baths, an attached 1 bedroom 1-bathroom ADU, and a detached 

1-car garage. A light earth-toned color palette proposes an off-white/cream exterior stucco, minimalist 

windows with white window frames that complement the darker accent color and a darker Spanish tile 

roof for contrast. A detached 1-car garage at the rear will be accessed from Cambridge Ave and up to 3-

off street parking spaces are provided of which 2 will be behind the fence gate and 1 at the front 

towards Cambridge Ave.  

 

NEIGHBOR RELATIONS 

Thomas James Homes reached out to neighbors within 300 feet of this property with a copy of the site  

plan, floor plan, elevations and a letter describing our project. A virtual neighbor meeting was held via  

Zoom on 10/30/24 to collect feedback and/or concerns from the immediate neighbors. There were no  

neighbors in attendance at the meeting. We look forward to welcoming our future homeowners and 

welcome any questions the city may have as we go through the Design Review Use Permit application 

process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Gagan Kang 

Senior Forward Planning Manager | Thomas James Homes 

gkang@tjhusa.com  | 650-272-3276 

A36



     California Tree and Landscape Consulting, Inc. 
359 Nevada Street, #202, Auburn, CA 95603 (530) 745-4086

© January 13, 2025 Page 1 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

January 13, 2025 

Andy Cost, VP of Land Development, N. California District 
Thomas James Homes 
275 Shoreline Drive, Suite 400 
Redwood City, California 94065 
Via Email: acost@tjh.com 

FINAL ARBORIST REPORT, TREE INVENTORY, 
CONSTRUCTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT & TREE PROTECTION PLAN 

RE: 670 Cambridge Avenue, Menlo Park, California [APN 071-413-260] 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Thomas James Homes contacted California Tree and Landscape Consulting, Inc. to document the trees on the property 
for a better understanding of the existing resource and any potential improvement obstacles that may arise. Thomas 
James Homes requested an Arborist Report, Tree Inventory, Construction Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan 
suitable for submittal to the City of Menlo Park. This is a revised Final Arborist Report, Tree Inventory, Construction 
Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan for the initial filing of plans to develop the property. The date of the 
previous version was June 25, 2024. 

Thomas M. Stein, ISA Certified Arborist WE-12854A, visited the property on March 28, 2024, to provide species 
identification, measurements of DBH and canopy, field condition notes, recommended actions, ratings, and approximate 
locations for the trees. A total of 9 trees were evaluated on this property, 3 of which are protected trees according to 
the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code, Chapter 13.24. 1 One tree is located off the parcel but was included in the 
inventory because it may be impacted by development of the parcel. 

TABLE 1: Tree Inventory Summary 

Tree Species 
Total Trees 
Inventoried 

Trees on 
this Site2 

Protected 
Heritage Oak 

Trees 

Protected 
Heritage 

Other Trees 

Street 
Tree 

Trees Proposed 
for Removal 

Total 
Proposed for 

Retention 

Acacia sp, Acacia sp. 1 1 0 0 0 1 (CR, AR) 0 

Blue atlas cedar, Cedrus atlantica 1 1 0 1 0 1 (CR) 0 

Bottlebrush, Callistemon sp. 3 3 0 0 0 1 (CR) 2 

1 Any tree protected by the City’s Municipal Code will require replacement according to its appraised value if it is damaged beyond repair as a 
result of construction. In addition, any time development-related work is recommended to be supervised by a Project Arborist, it must be written 
in the report to describe the work plan and mitigation work. The Project Arborist shall provide a follow-up letter documenting the mitigation has 
been completed to specification. 
2 CalTLC, Inc. is not a licensed land surveyor. Tree locations are approximate and we do not determine tree ownership. Trees which appear to be on 
another parcel are listed as off-site and treated as the property of that parcel. 

A37

EXHIBIT C

mailto:acost@tjh.com


Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 2 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Tree Species 
Total Trees 
Inventoried 

Trees on 
this Site2 

Protected 
Heritage Oak 

Trees 

Protected 
Heritage 

Other Trees 

Street 
Tree 

Trees Proposed 
for Removal 

Total 
Proposed for 

Retention 

Holly, Ilex sp. 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 

London plane tree, Platanus × hispanica 1 0 0 1 1 1 (CR) 0 

Maidenhair tree, Ginkgo biloba 1 1 0 0 0 1 (CR) 0 

Olive, Olea europaea 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 

TOTAL 9 8 0 3 1 5 5 

[AR – Arborist Recommended Removal, CR = Construction Removal] 

 
ASSIGNMENT   
 

Perform an examination of the site to document the presence and condition of trees protected by the City of Menlo 
Park. The study area for this effort includes the deeded parcel as delineated in the field by the property fences and any 
significant or protected trees overhanging from adjacent parcels. 
 
Prepare a report of findings. All trees protected by the City of Menlo Park are included in the inventory. 
 

METHODS 
 
Appendix 2 in this report is the detailed inventory and recommendations for the trees. The following terms and Table A 
– Ratings Descriptions will further explain our findings. 
 
The protected trees evaluated as part of this report have a numbered tag that was placed on each one that is 1-1/8” x 1-
3/8", green anodized aluminum, “acorn” shaped, and labeled: CalTLC, Auburn, CA with 1/4” pre-stamped tree number 
and Tree Tag. They are attached with a nail, installed at approximately 6 feet above ground level on the approximate 
north side of the tree. The tag should last ~10-20+ years depending on the species, before it is enveloped by the trees’ 
normal growth cycle. 
 
The appraisals included in this report (see Appendix 4) is based on the 10th Edition of the Guide for Plant Appraisal.3 The 
trunk formula technique of appraisal provides a basic cost to replace a tree, determined by its species and size. The tree 
costs are extrapolated from that of the most commonly available and used tree for landscaping, which at this time in 
Northern California has been determined to be a 24” box specimen.4 Based on the size and value of the tree as a 24” 
box, the species are valued at $78.53 per square inch of trunk area. Per the request of the city of Menlo Park, multi-stem 
trees are measured as a single trunk, just below the lowest point of branching. 
 
The basic value is depreciated by the tree’s condition, which is considered a function of its health, structure and form 
and expressed as a percentage of the basic value. The result is termed the deterioration of the tree. 
 
The trees are further depreciated by the functional and external limitations that may impact their ability to grow to their 
normal size, shape and function. Functional limitations include limited soil volume, adequate growing space, poor soil 
quality, etc. External limitations include easements, government regulations and ownership issues beyond the control of 
the tree’s owner. 

 
3 2018. Council of Tree and Landscape Appraisers. Guide for Plant Appraisal, 10th Edition, 2nd Printing. International Society of Arboriculture, 
Atlanta, GA 
4 2004. Western Chapter Species Classification and Group Assignment. Western Chapter, International Society of Arboriculture. Porterville, CA 

A38



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 3 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

 
The final value is rounded to the nearest $100 to obtain the assignment result. If the tree is not a complete loss, the 
value of loss is determined as a percentage of the original value.  
TERMS 
 
Species of trees is listed by our local common name and botanical name by genus and species.  
 
DBH (diameter breast high) is normally measured at 4’6” (54” above the average ground height, but if that varies then 
the location where it is measured is noted here. A steel diameter tape was used to measure the trees. 
 
Canopy radius is measured in feet. It is the farthest extent of the crown composed of leaves and small twigs measured 
by a steel tape. This measurement often defines the Critical Root Zone (CRZ) or Protection Zone (PZ), which is a circular 
area around a tree with a radius equal to this measurement. 
 
Actions listed are recommendations to improve health or structure of the tree. Trees in public spaces require 
maintenance. If a tree is to remain and be preserved, then the tree may need some form of work to reduce the 
likelihood of failure and increase the longevity of the tree. Preservation requirements and actions based on a proposed 
development plan are not included here.  
 
Arborist Rating is subjective to condition and is based on both the health and structure of the tree. All of the trees were 
rated for condition, per the recognized national standard as set up by the Council of Tree and Landscape Appraisers and 
the International Society of Arboriculture (ISA) on a numeric scale of 5 (being the highest) to 0 (the worst condition, 
dead). The rating was done in the field at the time of the measuring and inspection. 
 

Table A – Ratings Descriptions 
 

No problem(s)     5  excellent 
No apparent problem(s) 4 good 
Minor problem(s)  3 fair 
Major problem(s)                            2                poor 
Extreme problem(s)                        1                hazardous, non-correctable  
Dead                                                  0                 dead 

 
Rating #0: This indicates a tree that has no significant sign of life.  

 
Rating #1: The problems are extreme. This rating is assigned to a tree that has structural and/or health problems that no amount 
of work or effort can change. The issues may or may not be considered a dangerous situation.  

 
Rating #2: The tree has major problems. If the option is taken to preserve the tree, its condition could be improved with correct 
arboricultural work including, but not limited to: pruning, cabling, bracing, bolting, guying, spraying, mistletoe removal, vertical 
mulching, fertilization, etc. If the recommended actions are completed correctly, hazard can be reduced and the rating can be  
elevated to a 3. If no action is taken the tree is considered a liability and should be removed. 

 
Rating #3: The tree is in fair condition. There are some minor structural or health problems that pose no immediate danger. When the 
recommended actions in an arborist report are completed correctly the defect(s) can be minimized or eliminated. 
 
Rating #4: The tree is in good condition and there are no apparent problems that a Certified Arborist can see from a visual ground 
inspection. If potential structural or health problems are tended to at this stage future hazard can be reduced and more serious 
health problems can be averted. 

 
Rating #5: No problems found from a visual ground inspection. Structurally, these trees have properly spaced branches and near 
perfect characteristics for the species. Highly rated trees are not common in natural or developed landscapes. No tree is ever 
perfect especially with the unpredictability of nature, but with this highest rating, the condition should be considered excellent. 
 

A39



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 4 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Notes indicate the health, structure and environment of the tree and explain why the tree should be removed or 
preserved. Additional notes may indicate if problems are minor, extreme or correctible. 

 
Remove is the recommendation that the tree be removed. The recommendation will normally be based either on poor 
structure or poor health and is indicated as follows: 
 

Yes H – Tree is unhealthy  
Yes S – Tree is structurally unsound 

 

OBSERVATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
The site is located in an existing subdivision with single-family residences, and the vegetation is comprised of 
ornamental landscape plants. The existing single-story home has a reported area of 1,909 sq. ft. and the lot size was 
unreported. The home is connected to electrical, communication, gas, water, and sanitary sewer infrastructure. The 
development plans include demolition of the existing home, garage, hardscape and landscape, and construction of a 
new 2-story home (area = 2,507 sq. ft), attached accessory dwelling unit (area = 395 sq. ft), detached garage (area = 413 
sq. ft), new hardscape and landscape. Refer to Appendix 2 – Tree Data for details 
 
RECOMMENDED REMOVALS OF HAZARDOUS, DEFECTIVE OR UNHEALTHY TREES  
 
At this time, 1 tree on the property has been recommended for removal from the proposed project area due to the 
nature and extent of defects, compromised health, and/or structural instability noted at the time of field inventory 
efforts. If this tree were retained within the proposed project area, it is our opinion that it may be hazardous depending 
upon its proximity to planned development activities. For reference, the tree which has been recommended for removal 
is highlighted in green within the accompanying Tree Data (Appendix 2) and briefly summarized as follows: 
 

Tree 
# 

Tag 
# 

Heritage 
Oak Tree 

31.4"+ circ. 

Heritage 
Other Tree 
47.1"+ circ. 

Stree
t Tree 

Off
- 

site 

Common 
Name 

Botanical 
Name 

DB
H 

(in.) 

Circ
. 

(ft.) 

Diameter 
Measure

d 
At (in.) 

Arborist 
Rating 

9 5259 No No No No Acacia sp. Acacia sp. 
14.
6 

45.
9 54 

1-Extreme 
Structure or 

Health Problems 
 

CONSTRUCTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
This Arborist Report and Tree Inventory is intended to provide to Thomas James Homes, the City of Menlo Park, and 
other members of the development team a detailed pre-development review of the species, size, and current structure 
and vigor of the trees within and/or overhanging the proposed project area. At this time, we are reviewed the Proposed 
site Plan (Sheet A1.0) prepared by Bassenian/Lagoni, dated November 27, 2024, the Landscape Improvement Plan 
prepared by Studio 1515, dated June 7, 2024 and the Area Plan prepared by CBG Civil Engineers, dated June 11, 2024. 
The perceived impacts to inventoried trees is presented in Appendix 2 and summarized below. 
 
Tree # 1 (Tag # 5251): The developer proposes removal of this tree due to noted defects and construction impacts from 
the required new sidewalk. This tree is to be replaced with one 24” box tree that is a small stature tree (Crape myrtle or 
similar) to avoid future overhead utility conflicts. 
 
Tree # 2 (Tag # 5252): Moderate impact to the tree’s CRZ is expected due to demolition and replacement of the 
driveway and installation of the new public sidewalk. Slight impact to the tree’s canopy is expected due to clearance 
requirements. 
 

A40



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 5 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Tree # 3 (Tag # 5253): Moderate impact to the tree’s CRZ is expected due to demolition and replacement of the 
driveway. Slight impact to the tree’s canopy is expected due to clearance requirements.  
 
Tree # 4 (Tag # 5254): The developer proposes removal of this tree due to encroachment. It is located in the proposed 
building envelope. 
 
Tree #5 (Tag # 5255): The developer proposes removal of this non-protected tree.  
 
Tree # 6 (Tag # 5256): The developer proposes removal of this tree due to encroachment. It is located in the proposed 
building envelope. 
 
Tree # 7 (Tag # 5257): Moderate impact to the tree’s CRZ is expected due to demolition and replacement of the 
driveway. Slight impact to the tree’s canopy is expected due to clearance requirements.  
 
Tree # 8 (Tag # 5258): Moderate impact to the tree’s CRZ is expected due to demolition and replacement of the 
driveway. Slight impact to the tree’s canopy is expected due to clearance requirements.  
 
Tree # 9 (Tag 3 5259): The developer proposes removal of this non-protected tree due to poor condition. 
 
A final inspection by the City Arborist is required at the end of the project. This is to be done before the tree 
protection fencing is removed. Replacement trees should be planted prior to inspection. 

Prior to issuance of the associated demolition and building permits, a tree protection verification letter from the 
Project Arborist is required. Verification should be performed with a site visit. The Project Arborist should verify that 
the tree protection is installed in compliance with the recommendations in the arborist report. Photographs should 
be included in a brief verification letter for City Arborist review. 

Any tree protected by the City’s Municipal Code will require replacement according to its appraised value if it is 
damaged beyond repair as a result of construction. Any time development-related work is recommended to be 
supervised by a Project Arborist, it must be written in the report to describe the work plan and mitigation work. The 
Project Arborist shall provide a follow-up letter documenting the mitigation has been completed to specification. 

 
DISCUSSION  
 
Trees need to be protected from normal construction practices if they are to remain healthy and viable on the site. Our 
recommendations are based on experience, and County ordinance requirements, so as to enhance tree longevity. This 
requires their root zones remain intact and viable, despite heavy equipment being on site, and the need to install 
foundations, driveways, underground utilities, and landscape irrigation systems. Simply walking and driving on soil has 
serious consequences for tree health.  
 
Following is a summary of Impacts to trees during construction and Tree Protection measures that should be 
incorporated into the site plans in order to protect the trees. Once the plans are approved, they become the document 
that all contractors will follow. The plans become the contract between the owner and the contractor, so that only 
items spelled out in the plans can be expected to be followed. Hence, all protection measures, such as fence locations, 
mulch requirements and root pruning specifications must be shown on the plans. 

 

A41



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 6 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

RECOMMENDATIONS: SUMMARY OF TREE PROTECTION MEASURES 
 
Hire a Project Arborist to help ensure protection measures are incorporated into the site plans and followed. The Project 
Arborist should, in cooperation with the Engineers and/or Architects:  
 

● Identify the Root Protection Zones on the final construction drawings, prior to bidding the project.  

● Show the placement of tree protection fences, as well as areas to be irrigated, fertilized and mulched on the 
final construction drawings. 

● Clearly show trees for removal on the plans and mark them clearly on site. A Contractor who is a Certified 
Arborist should perform tree and stump removal. All stumps within the root zone of trees to be preserved shall 
be ground out using a stump router or left in place. No trunk within the root zone of other trees shall be 
removed using a backhoe or other piece of grading equipment.  

● Prior to any grading, or other work on the site that will come within 50’ of any tree to be preserved:  

1.  Irrigate (if needed) and place a 6” layer of chip mulch over the protected root zone of all trees that will 
be impacted. 

2.  Erect Tree Protection Fences. Place boards against trees located within 3’ of construction zones, even if 
fenced off. 

3.  Remove lower foliage that may interfere with equipment PRIOR to having grading or other equipment 
on site. The Project Arborist should approve the extent of foliage elevation, and oversee the pruning, 
performed by a contractor who is an ISA Certified Arborist. 

● For grade cuts, expose roots by hand digging, potholing or using an air spade and then cut roots cleanly prior to 
further grading outside the tree protection zones. 

● For fills, if a cut is required first, follow as for cuts. 

● Where possible, specify geotextile fabric and/or thickened paving, re-enforced paving, and structural soil in lieu 
of compacting, and avoid root cutting as much as possible, prior to placing fills on the soil surface. Any proposed 
retaining wall or fill soil shall be discussed with the engineer and arborist in order to reduce impacts to trees to 
be preserved.  

● Clearly designate an area on the site outside the drip line of all trees where construction materials may be 
stored, and parking can take place. No materials or parking shall take place within the root zones of protected 
trees. 

● Design utility and irrigation trenches to minimize disturbance to tree roots. Where possible, dig trenches with 
hydro-vac equipment or air spade, placing pipes underneath the roots, or bore the deeper trenches underneath 
the roots. 

● Include on the plans an Arborist inspection schedule to monitor the site during (and after) construction to 
ensure protection measures are followed and make recommendations for care of the trees on site, as needed.  

A42



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 7 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

General Tree protection measures are included as Appendix 3. These measures need to be included on the Site, Grading, 
Utility and Landscape Plans. A final report of recommendations specific to the plan can be completed as part of, and in 
conjunction with, the actual plans. This will require the arborist working directly with the engineer and architect for the 
project. If the above recommendations are followed, the amount of time required by the arborist for the final report 
should be minimal. 

 

 

 

Report Prepared by:  Project Arborist:   Report Reviewed by:  
 

 
Caroline Nicholas 
Arborist Assistant 

 
Thomas M. Stein, Arborist 
International Society of Arboriculture 
ISA Certified Arborist WE-12854A 
ISA Tree Risk Assessment Qualification 
 

 
Gordon Mann, Consulting Arborist and Urban 
Forester 
Registered Consulting Arborist #480 
ISA Certified Arborist and Municipal Specialist 
#WE-0151AM 
CAUFC Certified Urban Forester #127 
ISA Qualified Tree Risk Assessor #1005 
Nevada County Fire Safe Council Defensible 
Space Advisory Training 

 

 

Enc.: Appendix 1 – Tree Protection Plan 
Appendix 2 – Tree Data 
Appendix 3 – General Practices for Tree Protection 
Appendix 4 – Appraisal Value Table 
Appendix 5 – Tree Protection Specifications 
Appendix 6 – Photographs 

A43



Esri, USDA Farm Service Agency

Property Line

Measured Tree Canopy

Tree Protection Fencing O
Sheet No.

TPP 1.1

0 2.5 5 7.5 101.25

Meters

California Tree & 
Landscape Consulting, Inc.

359 Nevada St., Suite 201
Auburn, CA 95603

D
oc

um
en

t P
at

h:
 F

:\P
er

so
na

l- 
n

et
\C

al
T

LC
\M

ap
s 

20
20

\L
o

ui
s 

&
 C

ol
or

ad
o\

La
n

dC
.m

xd

----

Prepared by Caroline Nicholas, Arborist Assistant

SEE ARBORIST REPORT FOR ADDITIONAL DETAILS

X = Removals

670 Cambridge Avenue
City  of Menlo Park, Cali fornia

January 13, 2025

TREE PROTECTION PLAN
 !"#$ ! %& 1

X

#3
#7#8

#2

#4X

X
X

non-protected

#5 #1 off-
site

X

X

#9

#6

X

A44

Caroline
Rectangle

Caroline
Polygonal Line

Caroline
Polygonal Line



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 9 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

APPENDIX 2 – TREE DATA 
Tree 

# 
Tag 

# 
Heritage 

Oak 
Tree 

31.4"+ 
circ. 

Heritage 
Other 
Tree 

47.1"+ 
circ. 

Street 
Tree 

Off- 
site 

Common 
Name 

Botanical 
Name 

DBH 
(in.) 

Circ. 
(in.) 

Diameter 
Measured 

At (in.) 

Measured 
Canopy 
Radius 

(ft.) 

Tree 
Height 

(ft.) 

Arborist 
Rating 

Notes Recommenda- 
tions 

Construction 
Impact 

Protective 
Measures 
to be Taken 

Suitability 
for 
Preservation 

Appraised 
Value, 
Rounded 
($) 

Justification 
for Removal 

1 5251 No Yes Yes Yes London 
plane tree 

Platanus × 
hispanica 

27 84.8 48 24 22 2-Major 
Structure 
or health 
problems 

In right of way. No 
sidewalk. Adjacent to 
curb, cracked curb. 
Enlarged flare. 
Codominant at 6 ft. 
Pollarded at 7-8 ft. 
Resprouting with weak 
attachments. Decay 
cavities at pollarded 
junctions with fruiting 
bodies. Utility clearance 
pruned. Wires in canopy 
with no conflict. If a 
sidewalk is to be installed 
the tree will have 
significant CRZ impacts. 

Consider removal 
and replacement, 
esp. if sidewalk 
and/or curb are 
replaced. 

The developer 
proposes removal 
due to noted 
defects and 
construction 
impacts from the 
required new 
sidewalk. 

N/A Poor $5,000.00 Noted defects 
and 
construction 
impacts from 
the required 
new sidewalk. 

2 5252 No Yes No No Olive Olea 
europaea 

25 78.5 24 21 25 2-Major 
Structure 
or health 
problems 

Enlarged flare 
proximately 5 feet in 
diameter. Codominant 
branching at about 4 feet. 
Callusing wound from 
grade to 4 feet on 
southside with moderate 
decay. Weak 
attachments. Multiple 
pruning wounds with 
decay. Located 33 feet 
from 672 Cambridge. 

None at this time Moderate CRZ 
impacts due to 
driveway demo 
and replacement 
installation and 
public sidewalk 
installation. Slight 
impact to canopy 
due to clearance 
requirements. 

Perform demo 
by hand w/in 
CRZ and project 
arborist shall 
monitor 
excavation for 
the public 
sidewalk and 
direct root 
pruning as 
necessary. 
Install TPF as 
shown in App1. 
Monitor irr. 
Needs 2x/mo; irr 
as needed. 

Fair $10,400.00 N/A 

3 5253 No No No No Holly Ilex sp. 7.5 23.6 54 12 20 2-Major 
Structure 
or health 
problems 

Flare is normal. Canopy 
lifted to about 6 feet. 
Multiple calloused 
pruning wounds on trunk. 
Overall sparse canopy and 

None at this time Moderate CRZ 
impacts due to 
driveway demo 
and replacement 
installation. Slight. 

Perform demo 
by hand w/in 
CRZ. Install TPF 
as shown in 
App1. Monitor 

Good N/A N/A 

A45



Thomas James Homes670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 10 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Tree 
# 

Tag 
# 

Heritage 
Oak 
Tree 

31.4"+ 
circ. 

Heritage 
Other 
Tree 

47.1"+ 
circ. 

Street 
Tree 

Off- 
site 

Common 
Name 

Botanical 
Name 

DBH 
(in.) 

Circ. 
(in.) 

Diameter 
Measured 

At (in.) 

Measured 
Canopy 
Radius 

(ft.) 

Tree 
Height 

(ft.) 

Arborist 
Rating 

Notes Recommenda- 
tions 

Construction 
Impact 

Protective 
Measures 
to be Taken 

Suitability 
for 
Preservation 

Appraised 
Value, 
Rounded 
($) 

Justification 
for Removal 

suppressed. Located 4 
feet east of driveway and 
about 22 feet east of 672 
Cambridge 

impact to canopy 
due to clearance 
requirements. 

irr. Needs 
2x/mo; irr as 
needed. 

4 5254 No No No No Maidenhair 
tree 

Ginkgo 
biloba 

14 44.0 54 24 25 3-Minor 
Problems 

Growing 5 feet east of 
house. Flare slightly 
enlarged. Lateral 
branching at 4 feet above 
grade. Weak attachments 
throughout. Canopy out 
of balance south. 

None at this time The developer 
proposes removal 
due to 
encroachment. 

N/A Fair N/A Located in 
building 
envelope. 

5 5255 No No No No Bottlebrush Callistemon 
sp. 

11 34.6 3 3 13 3-Minor 
Problems 

Growing 1 foot west of 
property line. Branches at 
one foot above grade into 
two scaffolds. Crossing 
scaffolds. Out of balance 
north. Canopy lifted to 6 
feet above grade. 

None at this time The developer 
proposes removal. 

N/A Fair N/A Non 
protected 

6 5256 No Yes No No Blue atlas 
cedar  

Cedrus 
atlantica 

28 88.0 54 31 45 3-Minor 
Problems 

Enlarged flare, Northside 
buttress root. Growing 
about 2 feet east of 
home. Codominant 
branching at 8 feet above 
grade into three scaffolds. 
Clearance pruned east 
over house. Old 12" dia. 
pruning wound east at 8 
feet with no response 
growth. Over extended 
limbs.  

Perform aerial 
inspection and end 
weight reduction 
pruning. Provide 
further 
recommendations. 

The developer 
proposes removal 
due to 
encroachment. 

N/A Good $19,700.00 Located in 
building 
envelope. 

7 5257 No No No No Bottlebrush Callistemon 
sp. 

14.6 45.9 6 16 15 3-Minor 
Problems 

Growing 1+ foot west of 
property line. Branches at 
8 inches above grade into 
two scaffolds. Out of 
balance south. Scaffolds 
bend moderately south. 
Suppressed north side by 
tree number 5258. 

None at this time Moderate CRZ 
impacts due to 
driveway demo 
and replacement 
installation. Slight. 
impact to canopy 
due to clearance 
requirements. 

Perform demo 
by hand w/in 
CRZ. Install TPF 
as shown in 
App1. Monitor 
irr. Needs 
2x/mo; irr as 
needed. 

Good N/A N/A 

A46



Thomas James Homes670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 11 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Tree 
# 

Tag 
# 

Heritage 
Oak 
Tree 

31.4"+ 
circ. 

Heritage 
Other 
Tree 

47.1"+ 
circ. 

Street 
Tree 

Off- 
site 

Common 
Name 

Botanical 
Name 

DBH 
(in.) 

Circ. 
(in.) 

Diameter 
Measured 

At (in.) 

Measured 
Canopy 
Radius 

(ft.) 

Tree 
Height 

(ft.) 

Arborist 
Rating 

Notes Recommenda- 
tions 

Construction 
Impact 

Protective 
Measures 
to be Taken 

Suitability 
for 
Preservation 

Appraised 
Value, 
Rounded 
($) 

Justification 
for Removal 

8 5258 No No No No Bottlebrush Callistemon 
sp. 

13.2 41.5 6 10 14 3-Minor 
Problems 

Flare normal. Codominant 
branching at 4 feet above 
grade. Out of balance 
north. Suppressed on 
southside by tree 5257. 
Located 1.5 feet west of 
property line. 

None at this time Moderate CRZ 
impacts due to 
driveway demo 
and replacement 
installation. Slight. 
impact to canopy 
due to clearance 
requirements. 

Perform demo 
by hand w/in 
CRZ. Install TPF 
as shown in 
App1. Monitor 
irr. Needs 
2x/mo; irr as 
needed. 

Good N/A N/A 

9 5259 No No No No Acacia sp.  Acacia sp. 14.6 45.9 54 21 35 1-Extreme 
Structure 
or Health 
Problems 

Decay at trunk base on 
west side to 1 foot. Old 
pruning wounds at 3, 3.5 
feet with no response 
growth. Seam on south 
east side. Very sparse 
canopy. Dead branches. 
Small hanger at 12 feet. 
Located 11.5 ft N of 
house.  

Recommend 
removal.  

The developer 
proposes removal 
due to poor 
condition. 

N/A Poor N/A Poor 
condition 

 
 

TOTAL INVENTORIED TREES = 9 trees (487 aggregate circumference inches) 

TOTAL RECOMMENDED REMOVALS = 1 tree (46 aggregate circumference inches) 

TOTAL RECOMMENDED REMOVALS FOR DEVELOPMENT= 5 trees (297 aggregate circumference inches) 

Rating (0-5, where 0 is dead) = 1=1 tree; 2=3 trees; 3=5 trees 

Total Protected Street Trees = 1 (84.8 aggregate circumference inches) 

Total Protected Oak Trees 31.4"+ = None 

Total Protected Other Trees 47.1"+ = 3 trees (251 aggregate circumference inches) 

TOTAL PROTECTED TREES = 3 trees (251 aggregate circumference inches) 

 
 
 
 

A47



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 12 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

APPENDIX 3 – GENERAL PRACTICES FOR TREE PROTECTION 
 
Definitions: 
 

Root zone: The roots of trees grow fairly close to the surface of the soil, and spread out in a radial direction 
from the trunk of tree. A general rule of thumb is that they spread 2 to 3 times the radius of the canopy, or 
1 to 1½ times the height of the tree. It is generally accepted that disturbance to root zones should be kept as 
far as possible from the trunk of a tree. 

Inner Bark: The bark on large valley oaks and coast live oaks is quite thick, usually 1” to 2”. If the bark is 
knocked off a tree, the inner bark, or cambial region, is exposed or removed. The cambial zone is the area of 
tissue responsible for adding new layers to the tree each year, so by removing it, the tree can only grow new 
tissue from the edges of the wound. In addition, the wood of the tree is exposed to decay fungi, so the trunk 
present at the time of the injury becomes susceptible to decay. Tree protection measures require that no 
activities occur which can knock the bark off the trees. 

 

Methods Used in Tree Protection: 
 

No matter how detailed Tree Protection Measures are in the initial Arborist Report, they will not accomplish 
their stated purpose unless they are applied to individual trees and a Project Arborist is hired to oversee the 
construction. The Project Arborist should have the ability to enforce the Protection Measures. The Project 
Arborist should be hired as soon as possible to assist in design and to become familiar with the project. He 
must be able to read and understand the project drawings and interpret the specifications. He should also 
have the ability to cooperate with the contractor, incorporating the contractor’s ideas on how to accomplish 
the protection measures, wherever possible. It is advisable for the Project Arborist to be present at the Pre-Bid 
tour of the site, to answer questions the contractors may have about Tree Protection Measures. This also lets 
the contractors know how important tree preservation is to the developer.  

Root Protection Zone (RPZ): Since in most construction projects it is not possible to protect the entire root 
zone of a tree, a Root Protection Zone is established for each tree to be preserved. The minimum Root 
Protection Zone is the area underneath the tree’s canopy (out to the dripline, or edge of the canopy), plus 1’. 
The Project Arborist must approve work within the RPZ. 

Irrigate, Fertilize, Mulch: Prior to grading on the site near any tree, the area within the Tree Protection fence 
should be fertilized with 4 pounds of nitrogen per 1000 square feet, and the fertilizer irrigated in. The 
irrigation should percolate at least 24 inches into the soil. This should be done no less than 2 weeks prior to 
grading or other root disturbing activities. After irrigating, cover the RPZ with at least 12” of leaf and twig 
mulch. Such mulch can be obtained from chipping or grinding the limbs of any trees removed on the site. 
Acceptable mulches can be obtained from nurseries or other commercial sources. Fibrous or shredded 
redwood or cedar bark mulch shall not be used anywhere on site. 

Fence: Fence around the Root Protection Zone and restrict activity therein to prevent soil compaction by 
vehicles, foot traffic or material storage. The fenced area shall be off limits to all construction equipment, 
unless there is express written notification provided by the Project Arborist, and impacts are discussed and 
mitigated prior to work commencing.  

A protective barrier of 6’ chain link fence shall be installed around the dripline of protected tree(s). The 
fencing can be moved within the dripline if authorized by the project arborist or city arborist, but not 

A48



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 13 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

closer than 2’ from the trunk of any tree. Fence posts shall be 1.5” in diameter and are to be driven 2’ 
into the ground. The distance between posts shall not be more than 10’. Movable barriers of chain link 
fencing secured to cement blocks can be substituted for “fixed” fencing if the project arborist and city 
arborist agree that the fencing will have to be moved to accommodate certain phases of construction. 
The builder may not move the fence without authorization from the project or city arborist.  

Where the city or project arborist has determined that tree protection fencing will interfere with the 
safety of work crews, tree wrap may be used as an alternative form of tree protection. Wooden slats at 
least 1” thick are to be bound securely, edge to edge, around the trunk. A single layer or more of 
orange plastic construction fencing is to be wrapped and secured around the outside of the wooden 
slats. Major scaffold limbs may require protection as determined by the city or project arborist. Straw 
waddle may also be used as a trunk wrap by coiling waddle around the trunk up to a minimum height 
of 6’ from grade. A single layer or more of orange plastic construction fencing is to be wrapped and 
secured around the straw waddle. 

Signage should be placed on the protective tree fence no further than 30’ apart. The signage should 
present the following information: 

● The tree protection fence shall not be moved without authorization of the Project or City 
Arborist. 

● Storage of building materials or soil is prohibited within the Tree Protection Zone. 

● Construction or operation of construction equipment is prohibited within the tree protection 
zone.  

In areas with many trees, the RPZ can be fenced as one unit, rather than separately for each tree. 

Do not allow run off or spillage of damaging materials into the area below any tree canopy. 

Do not store materials, stockpile soil or park or drive vehicles within the TPZ. 

Do not cut, break, skin or bruise roots, branches, or trunks without first obtaining authorization from 
the city arborist. 

Do not allow fires under and adjacent to trees. 

Do not discharge exhaust into foliage.  

Do not secure cable, chain or rope to trees or shrubs. 

Do not trench, dig, or otherwise excavate within the dripline or TPZ of the tree(s) without first 
obtaining authorization from the city arborist.  

Do not apply soil sterilant under pavement near existing trees. 

Only excavation by hand, compressed air or hydro-vac shall be allowed within the dripline of trees.  

Elevate Foliage: Where indicated, remove lower foliage from a tree to prevent limb breakage by equipment. 
Low foliage can usually be removed without harming the tree, unless more than 25% of the foliage is 
removed. Branches need to be removed at the anatomically correct location in order to prevent decay 

A49



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 14 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

organisms from entering the trunk. For this reason, a contractor who is an ISA Certified Arborist should 
perform all pruning on protected trees.5 

Expose and Cut Roots: Breaking roots with a backhoe, or crushing them with a grader, causes significant injury, 
which may subject the roots to decay. Ripping roots may cause them to splinter toward the base of the tree, 
creating much more injury than a clean cut would make. At any location where the root zone of a tree will be 
impacted by a trench or a cut (including a cut required for a fill and compaction), the roots shall be exposed 
with either a backhoe digging radially to the trunk, by hand digging, or by a hydraulic air spade, and then cut 
cleanly with a sharp instrument, such as chainsaw with a carbide chain. Once the roots are severed, the area 
behind the cut should be moistened and mulched. A root protection fence should also be erected to protect 
the remaining roots, if it is not already in place. Further grading or backhoe work required outside the 
established RPZ can then continue without further protection measures. 

Protect Roots in Deeper Trenches: The location of utilities on the site can be very detrimental to trees. Design 
the project to use as few trenches as possible, and to keep them away from the major trees to be protected. 
Wherever possible, in areas where trenches will be very deep, consider boring under the roots of the trees, 
rather than digging the trench through the roots. This technique can be quite useful for utility trenches and 
pipelines.  

Route pipes outside of the area that is 10 times the diameter of the protected tree to avoid conflicts with 
roots. Where it is not possible to reroute pipes or trenches, the contractor shall bore beneath the dripline of 
the tree. The boring shall take place not less than 3’ below the surface of the soil in order to avoid 
encountering feeder roots. Alternatively, the trench can be excavated using hand, pneumatic of hydro-vac 
techniques within the RPZ. The goal is to avoid damaging the roots while excavating. The pipes should be fed 
under the exposed roots. Trenches should be filled within 24 hours, but where this is not possible the side of 
the trench adjacent to the trees shall be kept shaded with 4 layers of dampened, untreated burlap, wetted as 
frequently as necessary to keep the burlap wet.  

Protect Roots in Small Trenches: After all construction is complete on a site, it is not unusual for the landscape 
contractor to come in and sever a large number of “preserved” roots during the installation of irrigation 
systems. The Project Arborist must therefore approve the landscape and irrigation plans. The irrigation system 
needs to be designed so the main lines are located outside the root zone of major trees, and the secondary 
lines are either laid on the surface (drip systems), or carefully dug with a hydraulic or air spade, and the 
flexible pipe fed underneath the major roots. 

Design the irrigation system so it can slowly apply water (no more than ¼” to ½” of water per hour) over a 
longer period of time. This allows deep soaking of root zones. The system also needs to accommodate 
infrequent irrigation settings of once or twice a month, rather than several times a week. 

Monitoring Tree Health During and After Construction: The Project Arborist should visit the site at least once a 
month during construction to be certain the tree protection measures are being followed, to monitor the 
health of impacted trees, and make recommendations as to irrigation or other needs. 

 

 
5 International Society of Arboriculture (ISA), maintains a program of Certifying individuals. Each Certified Arborist has a number and 
must maintain continuing education credits to remain Certified. 

A50



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 15 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Root Structure 
The majority of a tree’s roots are contained in a radius from the main trunk outward approximately two to 
three times the canopy of the tree. These roots are located in the top 6” to 3’ of soil. It is a common 
misconception that a tree underground resembles the canopy (see Drawing A below). The correct root 
structure of a tree is in Drawing B. All plants’ roots need both water and air for survival. Surface roots are a 
common phenomenon with trees grown in compacted soil. Poor canopy development or canopy decline in 
mature trees is often the result of inadequate root space and/or soil compaction. 

 
 

Drawing A 
Common misconception of where tree roots are assumed to be located 

 

 
Drawing B 

 The reality of where roots are generally located 
 

  

A51



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 16 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Structural Issues 
Limited space for canopy development produces poor structure in trees. The largest tree in a given area, 
which is ‘shading’ the other trees is considered Dominant. The ‘shaded’ trees are considered Suppressed. The 
following picture illustrates this point. Suppressed trees are more likely to become a potential hazard due to 
their poor structure. 
 

    
 
Co-dominant leaders are another common structural problem in trees. 
 

 
 
Photo from Evaluation of Hazard Trees in Urban Areas by Nelda P. Matheny and  
James R. Clark, 1994 International Society of Arboriculture 

 
 

Suppressed Tree 
 
Canopy weight all to 
one side 
 
Limbs and foliage 
grow away from 
dominant tree 

Dominant Tree 
 
Growth is 
upright 
 
Canopy is 
balanced by 
limbs and 
foliage equally 

The tree in this picture has a co-
dominant leader at about 3’ and 

included bark up to 7 or 8’. Included 

bark occurs when two or more limbs 
have a narrow angle of attachment 
resulting in bark between the stems – 
instead of cell to cell structure. This is 
considered a critical defect in trees 
and is the cause of many failures. 

Narrow Angle 
 
Included Bark between the 
arrows 

A52



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 17 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Pruning Mature Trees for Risk Reduction 
There are few good reasons to prune mature trees. Removal of deadwood, directional pruning, removal of 
decayed or damaged wood, and end-weight reduction as a method of mitigation for structural faults are the 
only reasons a mature tree should be pruned. Live wood over 3” should not be pruned unless absolutely 
necessary. Pruning cuts should be clean and correctly placed. Pruning should be done in accordance with the 
American National Standards Institute (ANSI) A300 standards. It is far better to use more small cuts than a few 
large cuts as small pruning wounds reduce risk while large wounds increase risk. 
 
Pruning causes an open wound in the tree. Trees do not “heal” they compartmentalize. Any wound made 
today will always remain, but a healthy tree, in the absence of decay in the wound, will ‘cover it’ with callus 
tissue. Large, old pruning wounds with advanced decay are a likely failure point. Mature trees with large 
wounds are a high failure risk. 
 
Overweight limbs are a common structural fault in suppressed trees. There are two remedial actions for 
overweight limbs (1) prune the limb to reduce the extension of the canopy, or (2) cable the limb to reduce 
movement. Cables do not hold weight they only stabilize the limb and require annual inspection.  
 

    
Photo of another tree – not at this site. 
 

  

Normal limb structure 
 
 
 
Over weight, reaching 
limb with main stem 
diameter small 
compared with amount 
of foliage present 

 

 

Photo of another tree – not at this site 

A53



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 18 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Lion’s – Tailing is the pruning practice of removal of “an excessive number of inner and/or lower lateral 
branches from parent branches. Lion’s tailing is not an acceptable pruning practice” ANSI A300 (part 1) 4.23. It 
increases the risk of failure. 
 
 
 
 
Pruning – Cutting back trees changes their 
natural structure, while leaving trees in their 
natural form enhances longevity. 

 
 

 
Arborist Classifications 

There are different types of Arborists: 
 
Tree Removal and/or Pruning Companies. These companies may be licensed by the State of California to do 
business, but they do not necessarily know anything about trees; 
 
Arborists. Arborist is a broad term. It is intended to mean someone with specialized knowledge of trees but is 
often used to imply knowledge that is not there. 
 
ISA Certified Arborist: An International Society of Arboriculture Certified Arborist is someone who has been 
trained and tested to have specialized knowledge of trees. You can look up certified arborists at the 
International Society of Arboriculture website: isa-arbor.org. 
 
Consulting Arborist: An American Society of Consulting Arborists Registered Consulting Arborist is someone 
who has been trained and tested to have specialized knowledge of trees and trained and tested to provide 
high quality reports and documentation. You can look up registered consulting arborists at the American 
Society of Consulting Arborists website: https://www.asca-consultants.org/  
 
  

A54

https://www.asca-consultants.org/


Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 19 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

Decay in Trees 
Decay (in General): Fungi cause all decay of living trees. Decay is considered a disease because cell walls are 
altered, wood strength is affected, and living sapwood cells may be killed. Fungi decay wood by secreting 
enzymes. Different types of fungi cause different types of decay through the secretion of different chemical 
enzymes. Some decays, such as white rot, cause less wood strength loss than others because they first attack 
the lignin (causes cell walls to thicken and reduces susceptibility to decay and pest damage) secondarily the 
cellulose (another structural component in a cell walls). Others, such as soft rot, attack the cellulose chain and 
cause substantial losses in wood strength even in the initial stages of decay. Brown rot causes wood to 
become brittle and fractures easily with tension. Identification of internal decay in a tree is difficult because 
visible evidence may not be present. 
 

According to Evaluation of Hazard Trees in Urban Areas (Matheny, 1994) 
decay is a critical factor in the stability of the tree. As decay progresses in the 
trunk, the stem becomes a hollow tube or cylinder rather than a solid rod. This 
change is not readily apparent to the casual observer. Trees require only a 
small amount of bark and wood to transport water, minerals and sugars. 
Interior heartwood can be eliminated (or degraded) to a great degree without 
compromising the transport process. Therefore, trees can contain significant 
amounts of decay without showing decline symptoms in the crown. 
 

Compartmentalization of decay in 
trees is a biological process in which 
the cellular tissue around wounds is 
changed to inhibit fungal growth 
and provide a barrier against the 
spread of decay agents into 

additional cells. The weakest of the barrier zones is the formation of the 
vertical wall. Accordingly, while a tree may be able to limit decay 
progression inward at large pruning cuts, in the event that there 
are more than one pruning cut located vertically along the main 
trunk of the tree, the likelihood of decay progression and the associated structural loss of integrity of the 
internal wood is high.   
 

Oak Tree Impacts 
Our native oak trees are easily damaged or killed by having the soil within the Critical Root Zone (CRZ) disturbed or 
compacted. All of the work initially performed around protected trees that will be saved should be done by people 
rather than by wheeled or track type tractors. Oaks are fragile giants that can take little change in soil grade, 
compaction, or warm season watering. Don’t be fooled into believing that warm season watering has no adverse effects 
on native oaks. Decline and eventual death can take as long as 5-20 years with poor care and inappropriate watering. 
Oaks can live hundreds of years if treated properly during construction, as well as later with proper pruning, and the 
appropriate landscape/irrigation design. 

A55



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 20 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

APPENDIX 4 – APPRAISAL VALUE TABLE  

 
 Client

: 
Thomas James Homes: Tree Appraisal at 670 Cambridge Ave, Menlo Park       

Tre
e # 

DBH 
(Inch.) 

Species Trunk Area 
(Inch.2) 

Unit Cost 
($/in2)  

Basic 
Reproduction 

Cost ($) 

Physical 
Deteriorati

on 

Functional 
Limitation

s 

External 
Limitation

s 

Total 
Depreciatio

n 

Depreciate
d Cost ($) 

Rounded Cost 
($) 

% Loss Assignment 
Result ($) 

1 27 London Plane 572.265 78.53 44,491.95 0.3 0..6 0.7 0.11 5,033.50 5,000.00 0 5,000.00 

2 25 Olive 490.625 78.53 38,530.48 0.3 0.9 0.9 0.27 10,403.23 10,400.00 0 10,400.00 

6 28 Blue Atlas 
Cedar 615.44 78.53 48,332.63 0.6 0.8 0.9 0.41 19,719.71 19,700.00 0 19,700.00 

         Additional Costs TBD  

         Assignment Result (Rounded): $35,100.00 

 
 

  
*The value of the trees was determined using the Trunk Formula Method, described in the Guide for Plant Appraisal, and on the Species Classification and Group 
Assignment published by the Western Chapter, International Society of Arboriculture (ISA). 

Unit costs determined using Urban Tree Farm, Fulton, CA price (eff. 4/2/2024) for 24-inch box trees plus 8.5% tax, not including delivery. 
 

**Assignment Result does not include removal of existing tree, site preparation, delivery, installation and post-planting care costs.  
 

A56



HERITAGE TREE AND CITY TREE PROTECTION 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION 
Public Works 
333 Burgess Dr., Menlo Park, CA 94025  
tel 650-330-6760 
 
 

Background 

Tree protection measures are required for all heritage trees and city owned trees being retained on or immediately 
adjacent to active construction sites.   
 
Violation of any of the below provisions may result in heritage tree violation fines, issuance of a stop work order, or 
other disciplinary action. 

Instructions 

1. Retain a city approved consulting arborist as the Project Arborist to design and monitor tree protection 
specifications.  The Project Arborist shall report violations of the tree protection specifications by the Contractor 
to the City Arborist as an issue of non-compliance. 

2. Design and implement tree protection measures before construction begins. 
 A tree protection fencing verification letter is required prior to building permit issuance. 

3. Report damage of heritage tree(s) by construction activities to the Project Arborist or City Arborist within six (6) 
hours. Remedial action should be taken within 48 hours. 

4. Delineate a Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) around the dripline of protected tree(s).  The Project Arborist may 
establish, with approval by the City Arborist, a larger or smaller TPZ based on the species tolerance, health and 
vigor of the tree(s).  

5. Construct a protective barrier around the TPZ (see Figure 1 below) with the following specifications: 
 Fencing shall be six (6)-foot-tall chain link; 
 Fence posts shall be 1.5 inches in diameter, driven 2 feet into the ground, at most 10 feet apart; 
 Signage (in both English and Spanish) should be printed on an 11” x 17” yellow-colored paper and secured 

in a prominent location on each protection fence. Signage shall include the Project Arborist’s contact 
information;   

 Fencing may be moved to within the TPZ if authorized by the Project Arborist and City Arborist. The fence 
must remain at least 1.5 times the diameter of the tree from its trunk (i.e. The fence must remain at least 30-
inches from the trunk of a 20-inch tree); and 

 Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for fixed fencing if the 
Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to be moved to accommodate certain 
phases of construction. The builder may not move the fence without authorization from the Project Arborist 
or City Arborist. 

 
Figure 1: Fenced tree protection zone 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Matheny, N., Smiley, E. T., Gilpin, R., & Hauer, R. (2023). Managing trees during construction (3rd ed.). 
International Society of Arboriculture.  
 

A57

https://menlopark.gov/Government/Departments/Public-Works/Maintenance-Division/Trees/Heritage-tree-definition-and-ordinance/Consulting-arborists


2 
 

 

6. Place a 6-inch layer of coarse mulch or woodchips covered with ¾-inch plywood or alternative within the TPZ 
prior to construction activity.  Placement of this protective covering will reduce soil compaction and root impacts.  
It will also help the soil retain moisture for the roots.   

7. As specified by the Project Arborist, ensure adequate irrigation is supplied to the trees on a regular basis.  
Irrigation helps the trees tolerate root impacts better.  Hand watering or drip irrigation lines would suffice.  In 
most cases, irrigation is needed once every 2-3 weeks depending on soil moisture levels.    

8. Prohibit the following activities within the TPZ. DO NOT: 
 Place heavy machinery for excavation; 
 Allow runoff or spillage of damaging materials; 
 Store or stockpile materials, tools, or soil; 
 Park or drive vehicles; 
 Trench, dig, or otherwise excavate without first obtaining authorization from the City Arborist or Project 

Arborist; 
 Change soil grade; and 
 Trench with a machine. 

9. When work must occur within the TPZ of a heritage tree (as authorized by the Project Arborist or City Arborist) 
install trunk protections (see Figure 2 below) with the following specifications:  
 Securely bind wooden slats at least 1-inch-thick around the trunk (preferably on a closed-cell foam pad).  

Secure and wrap at least one layer of orange plastic construction fencing around the outside of the wooden 
slats for visibility; 

 DO NOT drive fasteners into the tree; 
 Install trunk protection immediately prior to work within the TPZ and remove protection from the tree(s) as 

soon as work moves outside the TPZ; 
 Protect major scaffold limbs as determined by the City Arborist or Project Arborist; and 
 If necessary, install wooden barriers at an angle so that the trunk flare and buttress roots are also protected. 

 
 

Figure 2: Trunk Protection 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Matheny, N., Smiley, E. T., Gilpin, R., & Hauer, R. (2023). Managing trees during construction (3rd ed.). 
International Society of Arboriculture.  

 
10. To avoid injury to tree roots:   

 Only excavate carefully by hand, compressed air, or high-pressure water within the dripline of trees; 
 When the Contractor encounters roots smaller than 2-inches, hand-trim the wall of the trench adjacent to 

the trees to make even, clean cuts through the roots;  
 Cleanly cut all damaged and torn roots to reduce the incidence of decay;  
 Fill trenches within 24 hours.  When it is infeasible to fill trenches within 24 hours, shade the side of the 

trench adjacent to the trees with four layers of dampened, untreated burlap.  Wet burlap as frequently as 
necessary to maintain moisture; and A58



3 
 

 

 When the Contractor encounters roots 2 inches or larger, report immediately to the Project Arborist.  The 
Project Arborist will decide whether the Contractor may cut roots 2 inches or larger.  If a root is retained, 
excavate by hand or with compressed air under the root.  Protect preserved roots with dampened burlap. 

11. Route pipes outside of the area that is 10 times the diameter of a protected tree to avoid conflict with roots. 
12. Where it is not possible to reroute pipes or trenches, bore beneath the dripline of the tree.  Do not bore less than 

3-inches below the surface of the soil to avoid damage to small feeder roots. 
13. Avoid the following conditions.  DO NOT: 

 Cut, break, skin, or bruise roots, branches, or trunks without authorization from the City Arborist; 
 Allow fires under and adjacent to trees; 
 Discharge exhaust into foliage; 
 Direct runoff toward trees; 
 Secure cable, chain, or rope to trees; and 
 Apply soil sterilants under pavement near existing trees. 

Periodic inspections 

The Project Arborist must provide periodic, on-site tree protection inspections during construction which: 
 Occur at least once every four (4) weeks; 
 Monitor the effectiveness of the Tree Protection Plan;  
 Provide recommendations for any necessary additional care or treatment; and 
 Will be followed by monthly construction monitoring reports emailed directly to the City Arborist. 

 

 

 

 

A59



WARNING TREE PROTECTION AREA 

ONLY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL MAY ENTER THIS AREA 

No excavation, trenching, material storage, cleaning, equipment access, or dumping is allowed 
behind this fence.  

Do not remove or relocate this fence without approval from the project arborist. This fencing 
must remain in its approved location throughout demolition and construction.  

Project Arborist contact information: 
Name: Gordon Mann or Ed Stirtz
Business: California Tree and Landscape Consulting, Inc.
Phone number: (530) 745-4086

A60



ADVERTENCIA: ÁREA DE PROTECCIÓN DE ÁRBOLES 

SÓLO EL PERSONAL AUTORIZADO PUEDE INGRESAR A ESTA ÁREA 

No se permite la excavación, zanjas, almacenamiento de materiales, limpieza, acceso de 
equipos, o vertido de residuos detrás de esta cerca.  

No retire ni reubique esta cerca sin la aprobación del arborista del proyecto. Esta cerca debe 
permanecer en su ubicación aprobada durante todo el proceso de demolición y construcción.  

Información de contacto del arborista de este proyecto: 
Nombre: Gordon Mann or Ed Stirtz
Empresa: California Tree and Landscape Consulting, Inc.
Número de teléfono: (530) 745-4086

A61



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 26 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

APPENDIX 6 – PHOTOGRAPHS 

 

 

TREE # 1 (TAG # 5251)-OFF-SITE    TREE # 2 ( TAG # 5252) 

 

A62



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 27 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

 

TREE # 3 (TAG # 5253)     TREE # 4 (TAG # 5254) 

 

A63



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 28 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

 

TREE # 5 (TAG # 5255)     TREE # 6 (TAG # 5256) 

A64



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 29 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

 

TREE #’S 8 AND 7 (TAG #’S 5258 AND 5257)  TAG # 9 (TAG # 5259) 

A65



Thomas James Homes 670 Cambridge Avenue, City of Menlo Park, CA 

© January 13, 2025 Page 30 of 30 Cal TLC 
All Rights reserved Auburn, CA 

 

TREE # 9: DECAY AT BASE     TREE # 9: SPARSE CANOPY 

A66



PAGE: 1 of 2 

LOCATION: 670 
Cambridge Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00041 

APPLICANT: Thomas 
James Homes 

OWNER: SF23X 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the
date of approval (by March 10, 2026) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Bassenian Lagoni Architecture consisting of 30 plan sheets, dated
received February 20, 2025 and approved by the Planning Commission on March 10,
2025, except as modified by the conditions contained herein, subject to review and
approval of the Planning Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District,
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly
applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers,
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of
grading, demolition or building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to
the Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by California Tree and
Landscape Consulting, dated November 25, 2024.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding
against the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside,
void, or annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community
Development Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City
concerning a development, variance, permit, or land use approval which action is
brought within the time period provided for in any applicable statute; provided, however,
that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall
be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim,
action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

A67

EXHIBIT D



 

PAGE: 2 of 2 

LOCATION: 670 
Cambridge Avenue 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00041 

APPLICANT: Thomas 
James Homes 

OWNER: SF23X 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

k. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, 
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of 
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day 
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application. 

2. The use permit shall be subject to the following project-specific condition: 

a. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant 
shall submit plans showing the removal and replacement of the curb and gutter along 
the entire project frontage and shall construct a new sidewalk along the entire project 
frontage that conforms to the adjacent property at 680 Cambridge Avenue, subject to 
the review and approval of the Engineering Division. 

 

 

A68



City of Menlo Park

670 Cambridge
Location Map

Date: 3/10/2025 Drawn By:4,000 CDH Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



670 Cambridge – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 7,356 sf 7,356 sf 7,000 sf min 
Lot width 60 ft 60  ft 65 ft min 
Lot depth 122.5 ft 122.5  ft 100 ft min 

Setbacks 
Front 20 ft 24.6 ft 20 ft min 
Rear 36.7 ft 21.9 ft 20 ft min 
Side (left) 9.1 ft 4.8 ft 10% of the min lot width, not 

less than 5’ or no more than 
10’ 

Side (right) 18.5 ft 30 ft 

Building coverage 2,084 
28.3 

sf 
% 

2,242 
30 

sf 
% 

2,574 
35 

sf max 
% max 

FAL (Floor Area Limit) 3,129* sf 1,413 sf 2,942 sf max 
Square footage by floor 1,362 

1,103 
399 
265 

58 

sf/1st 

sf/2nd 

ADU 
sf/garage 
sf/covered 
porch 

1,915 
327 

sf/1st 

garage 

Square footage of buildings 3,187 sf 2,242 sf 
Building height 26.8 ft 13.9 ft 28** ft max 
Parking 1 covered and 1 uncovered 

space 
2 covered spaces 1 covered and 1 uncovered 

space 
Note: Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation 

Trees Heritage trees 3*** Non-Heritage trees 6 New trees 7 
Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

2 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for removal 

3 Total Number of 
trees  

11 

*FAL and BC are permitted to exceed the limits by up to 800 square feet in order to build an ADU.
**The maximum building height at any one point on the property shall be the lower of either twenty-eight feet (28’) from the average grade
or twenty-eight feet (28’) from the grade directly beneath any portion of the building.
***Indicates off-site heritage tree.

ATTACHMENT C

C1



Community Development 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Planning Commission    
Meeting Date:   3/10/2025 
Staff Report Number:  25-010-PC 
 
Public Hearing:  Consider and adopt a resolution to approve a use 

permit to demolish an existing single-story, single-
family residence and detached garage to construct 
a new two-story, single-family residence on a 
substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, 
depth and area in the R-1-U (Single-Family Urban) 
zoning district at 340 Nova Lane, and determine this 
action is categorically exempt under CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303’s Class 3 exemption for 
new construction or conversion of small structures. 
The proposal includes an attached accessory 
dwelling unit (ADU), which is a permitted use and 
not subject to discretionary review.  

 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a resolution approving a use permit to demolish an 
existing single-story, single-family residence and detached garage to construct a new two-story, single-
family residence on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, depth and area in the R-1-U 
(Single-Family Urban) zoning district. The proposal also includes an attached accessory dwelling unit 
(ADU), which is not subject to discretionary review. The draft resolution, including the recommended actions 
and conditions of approval, is included as Attachment A. 

 

Policy Issues 
Each use permit request is considered individually. The Planning Commission should consider whether the 
required use permit findings can be made for the proposed project.  

 

Background 

Site location 
The subject property is located on the eastern side of Nova Lane, in the Willows neighborhood. All 
surrounding properties along Gilbert Avenue, Barton Way, and Nova Lane are also located in the R-1-U 
zoning district. The surrounding area contains a mixture of older and newer single-family residences with 
both one- and two-story designs. A variety of architectural styles are present in the neighborhood, including 
modern, ranch, and craftsman styles. Nova Lane, in particular, has seen several new two-story homes in 
the past couple of years. A location map is included as Attachment B.  
  



Staff Report #: 25-010-PC 
Page 2 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 

Analysis 

Project description 
The subject property is currently occupied by a 1,236 square-foot, single-story, single-family residence and 
a 435-square-foot detached garage, built around 1951. The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing 
single-story residence and detached garage to construct a new two-story, single-family residence with an 
attached two-car garage. The development would also include an attached, 926-square-foot, two-story ADU 
at the rear of the structure, accessed by an independent entryway. 
 
The lot is substandard with regard to minimum lot width, with a width of 53 feet where a minimum of 65 feet 
is required, minimum lot depth, with a depth of 94.5 feet where a minimum of 100 feet is required, and lot 
area, with a lot area of 5,007 square feet where 7,000 square feet is required.  
 
The proposed residence would include a total of three bedrooms and two bathrooms. The first floor would 
include an open living and dining space, and an open kitchen, which would open to a rear deck. The second 
floor would include three bedrooms and two bathrooms, along with a family den.  
 
The proposed residence would meet all Zoning Ordinance requirements for setbacks, lot coverage, floor 
area limit (FAL), daylight plane, parking, and height. Of particular note with regard to Zoning Ordinance 
requirements: 
• The main house and ADU would contain 3,600 square feet and would exceed the maximum FAL of 

2,800 square feet for the site. 
• The project is allowed to exceed the FAL and building coverage limits by up to 800 square feet in 

order to accommodate the 926-square-foot, attached ADU.  
• The total building coverage would be 33.3% (1,667 square feet), where 35% is the maximum permitted.  
• The residence would have a front setback of 20 feet and rear setback of 27.6 feet, where a minimum of 

20 feet is required. 
• The residence would have side setbacks of 5.5 feet where a minimum of 5.3 feet is required. 
• The second floor would be 1,194 square feet where 1,400 square feet is permitted. 

 
A second floor balcony is proposed over the flat roof along the right-side of the second-story. Balconies in 
single-family residential districts require a minimum 20-foot setback along each side and a minimum 30-foot 
rear setback. The balcony would be surrounded by guardrails, separating it from the rest of the flat roof, and 
would be setback 20 feet from the right-side property line and approximately 44.5 feet from the rear property 
line. A full height screen is proposed along the front as an architectural design feature to provide a 
continuous façade, while also creating privacy for the proposed balcony. This would result in the front-facing 
portion of the balcony being completely enclosed, while the rear-facing and right-side-facing portions would 
be open. Beyond the proposed balcony, the remaining area of the flat roof over the living area would be 
utilized as a roof top garden, which would have an irrigation system and would not require constant 
monitoring or access to the space. A data table summarizing parcel and project characteristics is included 
as Attachment C. The project plans and project description letter are included as Attachment A, Exhibits A 
and B, respectively. 
 
Design and materials 
As described in the project description letter, the proposed project is designed in a Mediterranean style, 
characterized by a gabled roof and a harmonious blend of stucco, stained wood windows, doors, and 
shutters, as well as barrel tile roofing and wood decking. This combination of materials aims to create an 



Staff Report #: 25-010-PC 
Page 3 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

aesthetic that is common among the context of both one- and two-story homes within the neighborhood. 
The proposed windows would not contain grids. Window sill heights would be a minimum of three feet. The 
second floor would be setback from the first floor at the left side to reduce massing.  
 
The proposal would comply with the required daylight plane, with one intrusion which may be permitted on 
lots less than 10,000 square feet in size. A dormer along the left elevation would intrude into the daylight 
plane by six feet, where nine feet, two inches is the maximum permitted intrusion when the required side 
yard setback is five feet, three inches. The length of the gable intrusion into the daylight plane would be 28 
feet, one-inch, where 30 feet is the maximum permitted. Staff believes the proposed dormer would add 
charm and architectural interest to the Mediterranean style of the home, in addition to light through the 
proposed dormer windows. 
 
The proposed residence would include a front-loading, two-car garage on the left side, set back 20 feet, two 
inches from the front property line. The potential impact of the garage on the streetscape would be reduced 
by an existing heritage sweetgum street tree (tree #1), and a wood trellis above the garage would add 
architectural interest along the streetscape.  
 
Staff believes that the scale, materials, and style of the proposed residence would result in a consistent 
aesthetic approach, and the proposed project would be generally consistent with the broader neighborhood, 
given the variety of architectural styles and sizes of structures in the area. 
 
Trees and landscaping 
The applicant submitted an arborist report (Attachment A, Exhibit C), detailing the species, size, and 
conditions of on-site and nearby trees. A total of seven trees were assessed, which include two onsite 
heritage trees and two heritage street trees. One non-heritage tree is proposed for removal and all 
neighboring trees are sufficiently distant from the proposed new residence. 
 

Table 1: Tree summary and disposition 

Tree number Species Size (DBH, in 
inches) Disposition Notes 

1* Sweetgum 24 Retain Heritage 

2* Jacaranda 7 Retain Non-heritage 

3 Plum 7 Remove Non-heritage 

4* Sweetgum 24 Retain Heritage 

5 Southern Magnolia 26 Retain Heritage 

6 Japanese Maple 9.5 Retain Non-heritage 

7 Coast Live Oak 24 Retain Heritage 

*denotes street trees 
 

To protect the heritage and non-heritage trees on site, the arborist report has identified such measures as 
tree protection fencing and excavation by hand digging during construction. The report also highlights 
necessary pre- and post-construction measures. All recommended tree protection measures identified in 
the arborist report would be implemented and ensured as part of condition 1h. 



Staff Report #: 25-010-PC 
Page 4 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
Correspondence 
The applicant indicates that they conducted neighborhood outreach, the results of which are included in the 
project description letter (Attachment A, Exhibit B). Neighbors generally expressed approval of the proposed 
project. Staff has received no direct correspondence on the proposed project. 
 

Conclusion 
Staff believes that the design and materials of the proposed residence are compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood, which features a mixture of one-story and two-story homes with varied architectural styles. 
The potential visual impact of the front-facing garage on the streetscape would be reduced by an existing 
heritage street tree, and all heritage trees would be retained and protected. The applicant’s proposal would 
not be out of scale for the neighborhood and would comply with all applicable Zoning Ordinance 
requirements, including floor area limit, building coverage, daylight plane, with a permitted intrusion, and 
setbacks. The proposed dormer intrusion into the daylight plane would add charm and architectural interest 
to the Mediterranean style of the home. The proposed right-side balcony would meet the required minimum 
side and rear setbacks, and would be screened along the front elevation. Staff recommends that the 
Planning Commission approve the proposed project. 

 

Impact on City Resources 
The project sponsor is required to pay Planning, Building and Public Works permit fees, based on the City’s 
Master Fee Schedule, to fully cover the cost of staff time spent on the review of the project. 
 

Environmental Review 
The project is categorically exempt under Class 3 (Section 15303, “New construction or conversion of small 
structures”) of the current California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 

 

Public Notice 
Public notification was achieved by posting the agenda, with the agenda items being listed, at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting. Public notification also consisted of publishing a notice in the local newspaper 
and notification by mail of owners and occupants within a 300-foot radius of the subject property. 
 

Appeal Period 
The Planning Commission action will be effective after 15 days unless the action is appealed to the City 
Council, in which case the outcome of the application shall be determined by the City Council. 

 

Attachments 
A. Draft Planning Commission Resolution approving the use permit 

Exhibits to Attachment A 
 A. Project Plans  

B. Project Description Letter  
C. Arborist Report 

 D. Conditions of Approval 
B. Location Map 
C. Data Table  



Staff Report #: 25-010-PC 
Page 5 

 

   

 
 

City of Menlo Park    701 Laurel St., Menlo Park, CA 94025  tel 650-330-6600  menlopark.gov 

 
Report prepared by: 
Fahteen Khan, Associate Planner 
  
Report reviewed by: 
Corinna Sandmeier, Principal Planner 



PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 2025- 0XX 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
MENLO PARK APPROVING A USE PERMIT TO DEMOLISH AN 
EXISTING ONE-STORY, SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE AND 
CONSTRUCT A NEW TWO-STORY, SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE 
ON A SUBSTANDARD LOT WITH REGARD TO MINIMUM WIDTH, 
DEPTH AND AREA IN THE R-1-U (SINGLE-FAMILY URBAN) 
ZONING DISTRICT AT 340 NOVA LANE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Menlo Park (“City”) received an application requesting a use 
permit to demolish an existing one-story, single-family residence and construct a new 
two-story, single-family residence on a substandard lot with regard to minimum lot width, 
depth and area in the R-1-U (Single-Family Urban) zoning district . The proposal also 
includes an attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU), which is a permitted use, and not 
subject to discretionary review (collectively, the “Project”) from Karen Staubach 
(“Applicant” and “Owner”), located at 340 Nova Lane (APN 062-343-300) (“Property”). 
The Project use permit is depicted in and subject to the development plans and project 
description letter, which are attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively, and 
incorporated herein by this reference; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located in the Single Family Urban Residential (R-1-U) 
district. The R-1-U district supports single-family residential uses; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed project would comply with all objective standards of the R-1-U 
district; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed Project was reviewed by the Engineering, Building and 
Transportation Divisions and found to be in compliance with City standards; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an arborist report (Exhibit C) prepared by Bo 
Firestone Trees & Gardens, which was reviewed by the City Arborist and found to be in 
compliance with the Heritage Tree Ordinance, and proposes mitigation measures to 
adequately protect heritage trees in the vicinity of the project; and 

WHEREAS, the Project, requires discretionary actions by the City as summarized above, 
and therefore the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA,” Public Resources Code 
Section §21000 et seq.) and CEQA Guidelines (Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, 
§15000 et seq.) require analysis and a determination regarding the Project’s
environmental impacts; and

WHEREAS, the City is the lead agency, as defined by CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, 
and is therefore responsible for the preparation, consideration, certification, and approval 
of environmental documents for the Project; and  

A1

ATTACHMENT A



WHEREAS, the Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to 
Cal. Code of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New construction or conversion of 
small structures); and 

WHEREAS, all required public notices and public hearings were duly given and held 
according to law; and 

WHEREAS, at a duly and properly noticed public hearing held on March 10, 2025, the 
Planning Commission fully reviewed, considered, and evaluated the whole of the record 
including all public and written comments, pertinent information, documents and plans, 
prior to taking action regarding the Project. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE MENLO PARK PLANNING COMMISSION HEREBY 
RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  Recitals.  The Planning Commission has considered the full record before it, 
which may include but is not limited to such things as the staff report, public testimony, 
and other materials and evidence submitted or provided, and the Planning Commission 
finds the foregoing recitals are true and correct, and they are hereby incorporated by 
reference into this Resolution. 

Section 2.  Conditional Use Permit Findings.  The Planning Commission of the City of Menlo 
Park does hereby make the following Findings:   

The approval of the use permit for the construction of a new two-story residence on a 
substandard lot is granted based on the following findings, which are made pursuant to 
Menlo Park Municipal Code Section 16.82.030: 

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will, 
under the circumstance of the particular case, not be detrimental to the health, 
safety, morals, comfort and general welfare of the persons residing in the 
neighborhood of such proposed use, or injurious or detrimental to property and 
improvements in the neighborhood or the general welfare of the city because: 

a. Consideration and due regard were given to the nature and condition of 
all adjacent uses and structures, and to general plans for the area in 
question and surrounding areas, and impact of the application hereon; in 
that, the proposed use permit is consistent with the R-1-U zoning district 
and the General Plan because two-story residences are allowed to be 
constructed on substandard lots subject to granting of a use permit and 
provided that the proposed residence conforms to applicable zoning 
standards, including, but not limited to, minimum setbacks, maximum 
floor area limit, and maximum building coverage.  

 
b. The proposed residence would include the required number of off-street 

parking spaces because one covered and one uncovered parking space 

A2



would be required at a minimum, and two covered parking spaces are 
provided in an attached garage.  

 
c. The proposed Project is designed to meet all the applicable codes and 

ordinances of the City of Menlo Park Municipal Code and the Commission 
concludes that the Project would not be detrimental to the health, safety, 
and welfare of the surrounding community as the new residence would 
be located in a single-family neighborhood. The project would be 
designed such that privacy concerns would be addressed through second 
story setbacks greater than the minimum required setbacks in the R-1-U 
district. 

 
Section 3.  Conditional Use Permit.  The Planning Commission approves Use Permit 
No. PLN2024-00021, which use permit is depicted in and subject to the development 
plans and project description letter, which are attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit A and Exhibit B, respectively.  The Use Permit is 
conditioned in conformance with the conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference as Exhibit D.   
 
Section 4.  ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW.  The Planning Commission makes the following 
findings, based on its independent judgment after considering the Project, and having 
reviewed and taken into consideration all written and oral information submitted in this matter: 

 
1. The Project is categorically exempt from environmental review pursuant to Cal. Code 

of Regulations, Title 14, §15303 et seq. (New construction or conversion of small 
structures). 

Section 5.  SEVERABILITY  

If any term, provision, or portion of these findings or the application of these findings to a 
particular situation is held by a court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions of these findings, or their application to other actions related to the Project, 
shall continue in full force and effect unless amended or modified by the City. 

I, Kyle Perata, Assistant Community Development Director of the City of Menlo Park, do 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing Planning Commission Resolution was duly 
and regularly passed and adopted at a meeting by said Planning Commission on March 
10, 2025, by the following votes: 

AYES:   

NOES:    

ABSENT:  

A3



ABSTAIN: 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the Official Seal of 
said City on this ______ day of March, 2025. 

PC Liaison Signature 

______________________________ 
Kyle Perata 
Assistant Community Development Director 
City of Menlo Park 

Exhibits 

A. Project plans
B. Project description letter
C. Arborist report
D. Conditions of approval

A4



A5

EXHIBIT A



A6



A7



A8



A9



A10



A11



A12



A13



A14



A15



A16



A17



A18



A19



 Project Description: 340 Nova Lane 

 Date:  March 4, 2025 

 Parcel General Information: 

 The subject property, located at 340 Nova Lane within the R-1-U zoning district, comprises a 
 5,007 square foot lot, substandard in both width and area. The existing structure is a 1,237 
 square foot ranch-style home, constructed in 1951, with a detached one-car garage measuring 
 435 square feet. The parcel is situated within the AE flood zone and contains two heritage trees. 

 Proposed Single Family Residence: 

 The current property owners, Nicholas and Karen Staubach, have resided at 340 Nova Lane 
 with their children since 2019. The family has since grown to include seven members (four 
 children between the ages of 3 and 9, along with Mrs. Staubach's mother), all of whom currently 
 reside within the existing dwelling. 

 Due to the spatial limitations of the current structure for a multi-generational family, the owners 
 propose to demolish the existing home and construct a two-story single-family residence with an 
 attached two-story Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). This proposed development will bring the 
 property into conformity with City regulations for development within a flood zone. The two 
 heritage trees on the property will be preserved. The new main residence will contain an open 
 floor plan layout, 2-car garage, and 3 bedrooms.  The attached ADU will offer one bedroom 
 suite upstairs and a downstairs ADU kitchen/living room. 

 The proposed residence will exhibit a mediterranean architectural style characterized by a 
 gabled roof and a harmonious blend of stucco, stained wood windows, doors, and shutters, as 
 well as barrel tile roofing, an inaccessible green roof area with irrigation support, and wood 
 decking in the backyard. This combination of materials aims to create an aesthetic that is 
 common among the context of both one- and two-story homes within the neighborhood. 

 Neighbor Outreach: 

 The property owners have proactively shared their updated design proposal in person or by 
 email with all directly adjoining properties, as well as four properties across the street, including: 
 330 Nova Lane, 350 Nova Lane, 337 Pope Street, 333 Pope Street, 341 Nova Lane, 331 Nova 
 Lane, 321 Nova Lane and 311 Nova Lane. The feedback received from these conversations has 
 been supportive of the project. 

A20

EXHIBIT B



A R B O R I S T  R E P O R T
T R E E  P R O T E C T I O N  P L A N

R E V I S E D  J A N U A R Y  1 6 ,  2 0 2 5  

P R E P A R E D  F O R :  K A R E N  L I U  S T A U B A C H  

S I T E  A D D R E S S :  
3 4 0  N O V A  L N .  • M E N L O  P A R K ,  C A  9 4 0 2 5  

A21

EXHIBITC



 

A22



Contents 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 1 

ARBORIST ASSIGNMENT .............................................................................................................. 1 

USES OF THIS REPORT ................................................................................................................. 1 

Limitations ................................................................................................................................... 2 

City Tree Protection Requirements ................................................................................................ 2 

Heritage Tree Definition .............................................................................................................. 2 

Construction-Related Tree Removals .......................................................................................... 3 

Violation Penalties ....................................................................................................................... 3 

Impacts on Protected Trees ............................................................................................................ 4 

SITE DESCRIPTION........................................................................................................................ 4 

TREE INVENTORY ......................................................................................................................... 4 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION ................................................................................................................ 4 

HOW CONSTRUCTION CAN DAMAGE TREES ............................................................................... 5 

Damage to Roots ..................................................................................................................... 5 

Mechanical Injury .................................................................................................................... 6 

IMPACTS TO HERITAGE TREES ..................................................................................................... 6 

SUMMARY ............................................................................................................................... 6 

TREE REMOVALS ..................................................................................................................... 7 

IMPACTS TO NEIGHBORING AND HERITAGE TREES ............................................................... 8 

Tree Protection Recommendations ................................................................................................ 9 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION ................................................................................................................... 9 

Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) .................................................................................... 9 

Preventing Root Damage ...................................................................................................... 11 

Pruning Branches .................................................................................................................. 11 

Arborist Inspection ................................................................................................................ 11 

A23



DURING CONSTRUCTION ........................................................................................................... 12 

Special Tree Protection Measures – Tree #1H and #5H ....................................................... 12 

Root Pruning ......................................................................................................................... 13 

Irrigation................................................................................................................................ 13 

Project Arborist Supervision ................................................................................................. 13 

POST-CONSTRUCTION ............................................................................................................... 14 

Continued Tree Care ............................................................................................................. 14 

Post-Construction Monitoring .............................................................................................. 14 

City Arborist Inspection ........................................................................................................ 15 

Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

Supporting Information ................................................................................................................ 16 

GLOSSARY .................................................................................................................................. 16 

BIBLIOGRAPHY ........................................................................................................................... 18 

   CERTIFICATE OF APPRAISAL.………………….………..…………………………………………………….….…………..19 

   TREE PROTECTION FENCING SIGNAGE.………………………………………………………………………………….20 

   TREE INVENTORY (TABLE).…………………….………..…………………………………………………….….…………..22 

   TREE PROTECTION PLAN MAP……………………………………………………………………………………………….23 

 

 

A24



Introduction 
 

ARBORIST ASSIGNMENT 

On February 28, 2024, at the request of the homeowner, my team visited 340 Nova Ln. in the 
role of Project Arborist.  The purpose was to perform the assessments and data collections as 
necessary to create an industry-standard Tree Protection Report for their project permit.  It was 
my understanding that the existing home was to be renovated and expanded, and a new 
attached ADU added on.  The site would undergo landscaping improvements including a new 
driveway, a new deck, and new walkways.  The assessments in this report were based on 
review of the following: 

• Boundary and Topographic Survey C.0 by WEC & Associates (dated 01/06/2020) 
• Site Plan A1.0 by Side Angle Side (dated 01/13/2025)  

My inventory included a total of seven (7) trees over six inches (6” DBH).  There were four (4) 
trees of Heritage size: one (1) southern magnolia (Magnolia grandiflora) on the property, (2) 
Sweetgum (Liquidambar styraciflua) Street trees, and one (1) coast live oak (Quercus agrifolia) 
on the neighbor’s property.  One (1) tree on the property was requested for removal.  All other 
neighboring trees were sufficiently distant from the work (>10x DBH).    

 

USES OF THIS REPORT 

According to City Ordinance, any person who conducts grading, excavation, demolition, or 
construction activity on a property is to do so in a manner that does not threaten the health or 
viability or cause the removal of any Heritage Tree.  Any heritage tree to be retained protected 
by the City’s Municipal Code will require replacement according to its appraised value if it is 
damaged beyond repair as a result of construction.  Any work performed within an area 10 
times the diameter of the tree (i.e., the tree protection zone) requires the submittal of a tree 
protection plan for approval by the City before issuance of any permit for grading or 
construction. 

A25



This report was written by Busara Firestone, Project Arborist, to serve as a resource for the 
property owner, designer, and builder.  As needed, I have provided instructions for retaining, 
protecting, and working around trees during construction, as well as information on City 
requirements. The owner, contractor and architect are responsible for knowing the information 
included in this arborist report and adhering to the conditions provided. 

 

Limitations 

Trees assessed were limited to the scope of work identified in the assignment.  I have estimated 
the trunk diameters of trees with barriers to access or visibility (such as those on neighboring 
parcels or behind debris).  Although general structure and health were assessed, formal Tree 
Risk Assessments were not conducted unless specified.  Disease diagnostic work was not 
conducted unless specified.  All assessments were the result of ground-based, visual 
inspections.  No excavation or aerial inspections were performed.  Recommendations beyond 
those related to the proposed construction were not within the scope of work.  

My tree impact and preservation assessments were based on information provided in the plans 
I have reviewed to date, and conversations with the involved parties.  I assumed that the 
guidelines and setbacks recommended in this report would be followed.  Assessments, 
conclusions, and opinions shared in this report are not a guarantee of any specific outcome.  If 
additional information (such as engineering or landscape plans) is provided for my review, 
these assessments would be subject to change. 

 

City Tree Protection Requirements 
 

Heritage Tree Definition 

A “Heritage Tree” is a tree that has protected status by the City of Menlo Park.  The City can 
classify trees with Heritage status for their remarkable size, age, or unique value.  However, in 
general, native oaks of 10 inches or more, and any tree having a trunk with a diameter of 15 

A26



inches or more has Heritage status (measured at 54 inches above natural grade, or at the 
branching point for multi-trunk trees).   

 

Construction-Related Tree Removals 

According to the City of Menlo Park, applicants are required to submit a site plan with the 
Heritage Tree Removal Application Permit even if they have submitted a site plan to the City for 
a planning or building permit. The site plan facilitates the review by the City Arborist.  

For removals of two or more trees, applicants shall be required to submit a planting plan 
indicating the species, size, and location of the proposed replacement trees on a site plan. 
Heritage Tree Permits related to Construction will also be charged for City-retained arborist 
expenses. 

 

Violation Penalties 

Any person who violates the tree protection ordinance, including property owners, occupants, 
tree companies and gardeners, could be held liable for violation of the ordinance. The ordinance 
prohibits removal or pruning of over one-fourth of the tree, vandalizing, mutilating, destruction 
and unbalancing of a heritage tree without a permit.  

If a violation occurs during construction, the City may issue a stop-work order suspending and 
prohibiting further activity on the property until a mitigation plan has been approved, including 
protection measures for remaining trees on the property.  Damage to Heritage trees must be 
reported to the Project Arborist or City Arborist within six (6) hours of damage.   

After receiving notice or observing damage during a requested inspection, the Project 
Arborist will issue a report to the client.  This applies to all trees identified for preservation 
including neighboring trees.  Documentation will include a description of the issue (extent of 
wounding, canopy loss or root loss), reassessment of impacts to the tree, and recommended 
remediation. 

A27



Civil penalties may be assessed against any person who commits, allows or maintains a violation 
of any provision of the ordinance.  The fine will be an amount not to exceed $5,000 per violation, 
or an amount equivalent to the replacement value of the tree, whichever is higher. 

 

Impacts on Protected Trees 

SITE DESCRIPTION 

The property at 340 Nova Ln. was a rectangular lot typical of the neighborhood.  The 
topography was not notable.  There was a house onsite with a shed behind the home.  The tree 
stock was a mix of ornamentals.  

TREE INVENTORY 

This tree preservation plan includes an attached inventory of all trees on the property 
regardless of species, that were at least 12 feet tall and 6-inch DBH. 

This inventory also includes as necessary, any neighboring Heritage Trees with work proposed 
within 10 times their diameter (DBH).  Any street trees within the public right-of-way were also 
included, regardless of size, as required by the City.   

The Inventory includes each tree’s number (as shown on the TPZ map), measurements, 
condition, level of impact (due to proximity to work), tolerance to construction, and overall 
suitability for retainment.  The inventory also includes the appraised value of each tree using 
the Trunk Formula Technique (10th Edition). 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

After review of proposed plan set, it was my understanding that the existing home was to be 
renovated and expanded, and a new attached ADU added on.  The site would undergo 
landscaping improvements including a new driveway, a new deck, and new walkways.  An 
above-ground spa was proposed in the back yard.   

A28



After discussions with the homeowner to explore alternative locations for the spa, it was my 
understanding that this was the preferred location for the following reasons: maximized privacy 
from the neighbors, minimizing encroachment into the deck, and to preserve walkway 
circulation.  Finally, the spa was originally planned to be in-ground but was switched to above-
ground with minimal excavation for the concrete pad to minimize impacts to Tree #5H.   

The homeowner also explored shifting the location of the driveway to minimize impacts to Tree 
#1H.  It was my understanding that the location of the driveway near Tree #1H could not be 
shifted.  Since a two-car garage was required for the home, and the driveway needed to comply 
with the 10-foot curb cut requirement, this location posed the least impacts to the tree.  The 
design was modified to ensure excavation of less than 12 inches would be required for the new 
driveway.  Please see the attached Tree Protection Plan Map.  

 

HOW CONSTRUCTION CAN DAMAGE TREES 

Damage to Roots 

Where are the Roots? 

The most common types of injury to trees that occur during property improvements are related 
to root cutting or damage.  Tree roots extend farther out than people realize, and the majority 
are located within the upper 24 inches of soil.  The thickest roots are found close to the trunk, 
and taper and branch into ropey roots.  These ropey roots taper and branch into an intricate 
system of fine fibrous roots, which are connected to an even finer system of fungal filaments. 
This vast below-ground network is tasked with absorbing water and nutrients, as well as 
anchoring the tree in the ground, storage, and communication.   

Damage from Excavation  

Any type of excavation will impact adjacent trees by severing roots and thus cutting off the 
attached network.  Severing large roots, or trenching across the root plate, destroys large 
networks.  Even work that appears to be far from a tree can impact the fibrous root system.  
Placing impervious surfaces over the ground, or installing below ground structures, such as a 
pool, or basement wall, will remove rooting area permanently from a site.   

A29



Damage from Fill 

Adding fill can smother roots, making it difficult for them to access air and water.  The roots 
and other soil life need time to colonize the new upper layers of soil.   

Changes to Drainage and Available Water 

Changes to the hydrology of the site, caused for instance by new septic fields, changes to grade, 
and drainage systems, can also cause big changes in available water for trees.  Trees can die 
from lack of water or disease if their water supply dries up or gets much wetter than they are 
used to.   

Soil Compaction and Contamination 

In addition, compaction of soil, or contamination of soil with wash-water, paint, fuel, or other 
chemicals used in the building process, can cause damage to the rooting environment that can 
last many years.  Tree protection fencing creates a barrier to protect as many roots as possible 
from this damage, which can be caused by travelling vehicles, equipment storage, and other 
construction activities that may occur even outside the construction envelope. 

Mechanical Injury 

Injury from the impact of vehicles or equipment can occur to the root crown, trunk, and lower 
branches of a tree.  The bark protects a tree – creating a skin-like barrier from disease-causing 
organisms.  The stem tissues support the weight of the plant. They also conduct the flow of 
water, sugars, and other important compounds throughout the tree. When the bark and wood 
is injured, the structure and health of the tree is compromised. 

 

IMPACTS TO HERITAGE TREES 

SUMMARY 

Four (4) Heritage Trees would be impacted by the project:  two (2) sweetgum Street trees, one 
(1) magnolia, and one (1) neighboring coast live oak. orange.  One (1) tree on the property was 
recommended for removal. 

A30



My evaluation of the impacts of the proposed construction work for all affected trees was 
summarized in the Tree Inventory.  These included impacts of grading, excavation for utility 
installation, retaining walls, drainage or any other aspect of the project that could impact the 
service life of the tree.  Anticipated impacts to trees were summarized using a rating system of 
“severe,” “high,” “moderate,” “low,” or “very low.”  

General species tolerance to construction, and condition of the trees (health and structural 
integrity), was also noted on the Inventory.  These major factors, as well as tree age, soil 
characteristics, and species desirability, all factored into an individual tree’s suitability rating, as 
summarized on the Inventory.   Suitability of trees to be retained was rated as “high,” 
“moderate,” “low.”  Trees with low suitability would be appropriate candidates for removal.  
Please see Glossary for definitions of ratings.   

 

TREE REMOVALS 

Removal Justification for trees is as follows: 

• Tree #3 was not a Heritage Tree: 
o I recommended Tree #3 (plum, Prunus sp.) for removal because it was within the 

footprint of the proposed home addition and paver walkway.  It would not 
survive the project.  

Menlo Park Administrative Guidelines for Criterion 5: 
The following documentation may be required to support tree removal for economic 
development:  

o Schematic diagrams that demonstrate the feasibility/livability of alternative design(s) 
that preserve the tree, including utilizing zoning ordinance variances that would preserve 
the tree. 
 

o Documentation on the additional incremental construction cost attributable to an 
alternative that preserves the tree (i.e. construction cost of alternative design minus cost 
of original design) in relation to the appraised value of tree(s) and based on the most 
recent addition to the Guide for Plant Appraisal.  

The following guidance will be used to determine feasibility:  

A31



o If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is more than 140% of the 
appraised value of the tree, the cost will be presumed to be financially infeasible.  
 

o If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is less than 110% of the 
appraised value of the tree, the cost will be presumed to be financially feasible.  

o If the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative is between 110% and 140% of 
the appraised value of the tree, public works director or their designee will consider a 
range of factors, including the value of the improvements, the value of the tree, the 
location of the tree, the viability of replacement mitigation and other site conditions.  
 

o In calculating the incremental cost of the tree preservation alternative, only construction 
costs will be evaluated. No design fees or other soft costs will be considered.  

 

IMPACTS TO NEIGHBORING AND HERITAGE TREES 

• Tree #1 (24” sweetgum, Street tree):  This street tree was approximately 10 feet from 
the proposed pavers and approximately 10 feet from the closest part of the driveway.  It 
would be expected to sustain “moderate” impacts (10% - 25% root loss) from the 
proposed work.  Please see “Special Tree Protection Measures” section of this report 
for guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree. 
 

• Tree #4H (24” sweetgum, Street tree):  This Street tree, located approximately 30 feet 
from the closest part of the home addition, would not be anticipated to be impacted by 
the project (0% - 5% root loss). 
 

• Tree #5H (26” magnolia):  This tree would be expected to be “moderately” impacted by 
the proposed work (10% - 25% root loss).  This tree was approximately five feet (5’) 
from an existing concrete pad.  It was also five feet (5’) from the proposed spa pad and 
10 feet from the closest part of the proposed deck.  Please see “Special Tree Protection 
Measures” section of this report for guidelines on working within 6x DBH of this tree. 
 

• Tree #7H (24” neighboring oak):  This neighboring tree was approximately 25 feet from 
the proposed spa and deck.  It would not be expected to be impacted by the project (0% 
- 5% root loss). 
 

A32



Tree Protection Recommendations 
 

PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

Establish Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) 

The Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) shall be a fenced-off area where work and material storage is 
not allowed.  They are established and inspected prior to the start of work.  This barrier 
protects the critical root zone and trunk from compaction, mechanical damage, and chemical 
spills.  The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes 
on-site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City 
before issuance of permits.   

Tree protection fencing is required to remain in place throughout construction and may only 
be moved or removed with written authorization from the City Arborist.  The Project Arborist 
may authorize modification to the fencing when a copy of the written authorization is 
submitted to the City. 

The following activities are prohibited inside the Tree Protection Zone.  DO NOT: 

• Place heavy machinery for excavation 
• Allow runoff or spillage of damaging materials 
• Store or stockpile materials, tools, or soil 
• Park or drive vehicles 
• Trench, dig, or otherwise excavate without first obtaining authorization from the City 

Arborist or Project Arborist 
• Change soil grade 
• Trench with a machine 
• Allow fires under and adjacent to trees 
• Discharge exhaust into foliage 
• Direct runoff towards trees 
• Cut, break, skin, or bruise roots, branches, or trunks without authorization from the City 

Arborist 
• Secure cable, chain, or rope to trees 
• Apply soil sterilant under pavement near existing trees 

A33



Specific recommended protection for trees is as follows: 

• Tree #1H (24” sweetgum, Street tree):  Establish standard TPZ fencing radius to 25 feet 
or the greatest extent possible as limited by the planting strip.  Place fence posts into 
the ground along the existing hardscape. 
 

• Tree #4H (24” sweetgum, Street tree):  This Street tree appeared to be sufficiently 
distant from the work and fencing would not be needed. 
 

• Tree #5H (26” magnolia) and Tree #7H (24” neighboring coast live oak):  These trees 
may be fenced as a group within the same perimeter.  Establish standard TPZ fencing 
radius to 25 feet, or to the greatest extent possible as limited by the work. 
 

TPZ FENCING SPECIFICATIONS: 

1) Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing 
mounted on eight (8)-foot tall, 1.5-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into 
the ground and spaced no more than 10 feet apart.  
 

2) Post signs on the fencing (in English and Spanish) printed on 11”x17” yellow-colored 
paper (signage attached at end of report) with Project Arborist’s contact information.  
Signage should be on each protection fence in a prominent location. 

3) Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for 
fixed fencing if the Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to 
be moved to accommodate certain phases of construction. The builder may not move 
the fence without authorization from the Project Arborist or City Arborist. 

TRUNK WRAP SPECIFICATIONS: 

• Securely bind wooden slats at least 1-inch-thick around the trunk (preferably on a closed-
cell foam pad). Secure and wrap at least one layer of orange plastic construction fencing 
around the outside of the wooden slats for visibility;  

• DO NOT drive fasteners into the tree; 
• Install trunk protection immediately prior to work within the TPZ and remove protection 

from the tree(s) as soon as work moves outside the TPZ;  
• Protect major scaffold limbs as determined by the City Arborist or Project Arborist; and  

A34



• If necessary, install wooden barriers at an angle so that the trunk flare and buttress 
roots are also protected.  

 
 

Preventing Root Damage 

Bare ground within the TPZ should have material applied over the ground to reduce soil 
compaction and retain soil moisture.  This may be done by applying a six to 12-inch layer of 
wood chip mulch to the area.  With this method, mulch in excess of four inches would have to 
be removed after work is completed.  As an alternative method that would not require mulch 
removal, the contractor could place plywood (>3/4-inch-thick) or road mats over a four-inch 
layer of mulch.  Mulch should be spread manually so as not cause compaction or damage.   

 

Pruning Branches 

I recommend that trees be pruned only as necessary to provide minimum clearance for 
proposed structures and the passage of workers, vehicles, and machines, while maintaining a 
natural appearance.  Any large dead branches should be pruned out for the safety of people 
working on the site.   

Pruning should be specified in writing adhering to ANSI A300 Pruning Standards and performed 
according to Best Management Practices endorsed by the International Society of 
Arboriculture. Any pruning (trimming) of branches should be supervised by an ISA-certified 
arborist.   

Any property owner wanting to prune heritage tree more than one-fourth of the canopy 
and/or roots, must have permission from the City. 

 

Arborist Inspection 

The City requires that tree protection fencing be installed before any equipment comes on-
site and inspected by the Project Arborist, who shall submit a verification letter to the City 

A35



before issuance of permits.  Tree protection fencing to be inspected by City Arborist before 
demo and/or building permit issuance.   

 

DURING CONSTRUCTION 

Special Tree Protection Measures – Tree #1H and #5H 

1) Demolition of existing hardscape (Tree #5H) should be performed in a manner that 
avoids tearing roots:  Using the smallest effective machinery, break up pieces of the 
concrete and lift pieces up and away from trees.  Cut roots embedded in paving rather 
than tearing them (see instructions on root cuts).   
 

2) Hardscaping (walkway and spa pad) – Tree #5H:  When excavating within 15 feet of this 
tree, use hand tools.  Leave roots encountered undisturbed if possible.  Excavation 
depth for installation of new landscape materials within 15 feet of tree should be no 
more than four inches (4”) into existing soil grade.  Do not compact native soil under 
paving materials.  If roots must be cut, please see section titled “Root Pruning.”  No 
paving materials or any excavation or grading within three feet (3’) of trunk.   
 

3) Hardscaping (driveway) – Tree #1H:  When excavating within 15 feet of this tree, use 
hand tools.  Leave roots encountered undisturbed if possible.  Excavation depth for 
installation of new landscape materials within 15 feet of tree should be no more than 
12” into existing soil grade.  Do not compact native soil under paving materials.  No 
paving materials or any excavation or grading within three feet (3’) of trunk.  Root 
pruning should be supervised by the Project Arborist. 
 

4) Excavation guidelines for installation of deck footings – Tree #5H: When excavating or 
boring underneath the canopy, or within 13 feet of the trunk of this tree, use hand tools 
within the top 36” of the soil leaving woody roots undamaged.  Under the supervision of 
the Project Arborist or City Arborist, roots encountered should be cut cleanly with a 
sharp, clean sawblade perpendicular to the direction of growth (a “square cut”).  The cut 
should be made where the bark of the root is undamaged and intact.  If roots of over 

A36



two inches (2”) are found, the Project Arborist may recommend moving the location of 
the footing.   

 

Root Pruning 

As required by the City of Menlo Park: 
• To avoid injury to tree roots, only excavate carefully by hand, compressed air, or high-

pressure water within the dripline of trees. 
• When the Contractor encounters roots smaller than 2-inches, hand-trim the wall of the 

trench adjacent to the trees to make even, clean cuts through the roots. Cleanly cut all 
damaged and torn roots to reduce the incidence of decay. 

• Fill trenches within 24 hours.  When it is infeasible to fill trenches within 24 hours, shade 
the side of the trench adjacent to the trees with four layers of dampened, untreated 
burlap.  Wet burlap as frequently as necessary to maintain moisture.   

• When the Contractor encounters roots 2 inches or larger, report immediately to the 
Project Arborist.  The Project Arborist will decide whether the Contractor may cut roots 2 
inches or larger.  If a root is retained, excavate by hand or with compressed air under the 
root.  Protect preserved roots with dampened burlap. 
  

Irrigation 

Water moderately and highly impacted trees during the construction phase.  As a rule of 
thumb, provide one to two inches per month.  Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into 
the soil, to the depth of tree roots.  Do not water native oaks during the warm dry season (June 
– September) as this activates oak root fungus.  Instead, make sure that the soil is sufficiently 
insulated with mulch (where possible).  Remember that unsevered tree roots typically extend 
three to five times the distance of the canopy.   

Project Arborist Supervision 

I recommend the Project Arborist meet with the builder on-site:  

• Soon after excavation 
• During any root pruning 

A37



• As requested by the property owner or builder to document tree condition and on-going 
compliance with tree protection plan (required every 4 weeks by the City).   

Any time development-related work is recommended to be supervised by a Project Arborist, 
a follow-up letter shall be provided, documenting the mitigation has been completed to 
specification.  

 

POST-CONSTRUCTION 

Ensure any mitigation measures to ensure long-term survival including but not limited to: 

Continued Tree Care 

Provide adequate and appropriate irrigation.  As a rule of thumb, provide 1- 2 inches of 
water per month.  Water slowly so that it penetrates 18 inches into the soil, to the depth of the 
tree roots.  Native oaks usually should not be provided supplemental water during the warm, 
dry season (June – September) as this activates oak root fungus.  Therefore, native oaks should 
only be watered October – May when rain has been scarce.   

Mulch insulates the soil, reduces weeds, reduces compaction, and promotes myriad benefits 
to soil life and tree health.  Apply four inches of wood chips (or other mulch) to the surface of 
the soil around trees, extending at least to the dripline when possible.  Do not pile mulch 
against the trunk. 

Do not fertilize unless a specific nutrient deficiency has been identified and a specific plan 
prescribed by the project arborist (or a consulting arborist). 

 

Post-Construction Monitoring 

Monitor trees for changes in condition.  Check trees at least once per month for the first year 
post-construction.  Expert monitoring should be done at least every 6 months or if trees show 
signs of stress.  Signs of stress include unseasonably sparse canopy, leaf drop, early fall color, 
browning of needles, and shoot die-back.  Stressed trees are also more vulnerable to certain 

A38



disease and pest infestations.  Call the Project Arborist, or a consulting arborist if these, or 
other concerning changes occur in tree health. 

City Arborist Inspection 

A final inspection by the City Arborist is required at the end of the project.  This is to be done 
before Tree Protection Fencing is taken down.  Replacement trees should be planted by this 
time as well. 

 

Conclusion 
  
The home building project planned at 340 Nova Ln. appeared to be a valuable upgrade to the 
property.  If any of the property owners, project team, or City reviewers have questions on this 
report, or require Project Arborist supervision or technical support, please do not hesitate to 
contact me at (408) 497-7158 or busara@bofirestone.com. 

 

Signed, 

 

 

Busara (Bo) Firestone | ISA Board Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B | ASCA Registered 
Consulting Arborist RCA #758 | ISA Qualified Tree Risk Assessor | ASCA Tree and Plant Appraisal 
Qualification | Member – American Society of Consulting Arborists | Wildlife-Trained Arborist 

 

 

A39

mailto:busara@bofirestone.com


Supporting Information 
 

GLOSSARY 
Terms appear in the order they appear from left to right on the inventory column headings.   

DBH / DSH:  Diameter at 4.5' above grade.   Trees which split into multiple stems at 4.5’ are 
measured at the narrowest point below 4.5’. 

Mathematic DBH / DSH:  diameter of multitrunked tree, mathematically derived from the 
combined area of all trunks. 

SPREAD:  Diameter of canopy between farthest branch tips 

TREE STATUS:  A “Heritage Tree” is a tree that has protected status by the City of Menlo Park.  The 
City can classify trees with Heritage status for their remarkable size, age, or unique value.  However, 
in general, native oaks of 10 inches or more, and any tree having a trunk with a diameter of 15 
inches or more has Heritage status (measured at 54 inches above natural grade, or at the branching 
point for multi-trunk trees).   

CONDITION-Ground based visual assessment of structural and physiological well-being:  

"Excellent" = 81 - 100%; Good health and structure with significant size, location or quality. 

"Good" = 61-80%; Normal vigor, full canopy, no observable significant structural defects, many 
years of service life remaining. 

"Fair" = 41-60%; Reduced vigor, significant structural defect(s), and/or other significant signs of 
stress 

"Poor" = 21- 40%; In potentially irreversible decline, structure and aesthetics severely 
compromised 

"Very Poor" = 6-20%; Nearly dead, or high risk of failure, negative contribution to the landscape  

"Dead/Unstable" = 0 - 5%; No live canopy/buds or failure imminent 

IDEAL TPZ RADIUS:  Recommended tree protection radius to ensure healthy, sound trees. Based on 
species tolerance, age, and size (total combined stem area) as per industry best practice standards. 
Compromising the radius in a specific area may be acceptable as per arborist approval. 

A40



Municipalities in our region simplify this nuanced process by using the distance to the dripline, 10X 
DBH, or 6X DBH as acceptable setbacks from construction. 

AGE:  Relative to tree lifespan; “Young” <1/3; “Mature" 1/3 - 2/3;  "Overmature" >2/3 

IMPACT:  Anticipated impact to an individual tree including…… 

SEVERE - In direct conflict, removal necessary if plans proceed (distance to root cuts/fill 
within 3X DBH or root loss of > 30% anticipated). 

HIGH – Work planned within 6X DBH and/or anticipated root loss of 20% – 30%.  Redesign 
to reduce impact should be explored and may be required by municipal reviewer.  
Retainment may be possible with monitoring or alternative building methods.  Health and 
structure may worsen even if conditions for retainment are met.  

MODERATE - Ideal TPZ encroached upon in limited areas.  No work or very limited work 
within 6X TPZ.  Anticipated root loss of 10% - 25%.  Special building guidelines may be 
provided by Project Arborist.  Although some symptoms of stress are possible, tree is not 
likely to decline due to construction related activities.  

LOW - Anticipated root loss of less than 10%.  Minor or no encroachment on ideal TPZ.  
Longevity uncompromised with standard protection. 

VERY LOW - Ideal TPZ well exceeded.  Potential impact only by ingress/egress.  Anticipated 
root loss of 0% - 5%.  Longevity uncompromised. 

NONE - No anticipated impact to roots, soil environment, or above-ground parts. 

TOLERANCE:  General species tolerance to construction (HIGH, MODERATE, or LOW) as given in 
Managing Trees During Construction, Second Edition, by International Society of Arboriculture   

SUITABILITY ASSESSMENT:  An individual tree's suitability for preservation considering impacts, 
condition, maturity, species tolerance, site characteristics, and species desirability. (HIGH, 
MODERATE, or LOW) 

APPRAISAL RESULT:  The reproduction cost of tree replacement as calculated by the Trunk Formula 
Technique.  

 

A41



BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 

Fite, Kelby, and E. Thomas Smiley.  Managing trees during construction, second edition. 

 Champaign, IL:  International Society of Arboriculture, 2016.  Print. 

 

ISA.  Guide for Plant Appraisal, 10th edition, second printing.  Atlanta, GA: International Society 
of Arboriculture, 2019.  Print. 

 

ISA. Species Classification and Group Assignment, 2004 Western Chapter Regional Supplement. 

 Western Chapter ISA. 

 

Smiley, E. Thomas, Nelda Matheny, and Sharon Lilly.  Best Management Practices:  Tree Risk  

Assessment:  International Society of Arboriculture, 2011.  Print. 

 

A42



CERTIFICATE OF APPRAISAL 

I, Busara Rea Firestone, CERTIFY to the best of my knowledge and belief: 

1. That the statements of fact contained in this plant appraisal are true and correct.

2. That the appraisal analysis, opinions, and conclusion are limited only by the reported assumption

and limiting conditions, and that they are my personal, unbiased professional analysis, opinions, and

conclusions.

3. That I have no present or prospective interest in the plants that are the subject of this appraisal, and

that I have no personal interest or bias with respect to the parties involved.

4. That my compensation is not contingent upon a predetermined value or direction in value that

favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the attainment of a stipulated

result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event.

5. That my analysis, opinions, and conclusions are developed, and this appraisal has been prepared, in

conformity with the Guide for Plant Appraisal (10th edition, 2000) authored by the Council of Tree

and Landscape Appraisers.

6. That the methods found in this appraisal are based on a request to determine the value of the plants

considering reasonable factors of plant appraisal.

7. That my appraisal is based on the information known to me at this time.  If more information is

disclosed, I may have further opinions.

Signed, 

Busara (Bo) Firestone 

ISA Board-Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B

01/16/2025

A43



WARNING TREE PROTECTION AREA 

ONLY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL MAY ENTER THIS AREA 

No excavation, trenching, material storage, cleaning, equipment access, or dumping is allowed 
behind this fence.  

Do not remove or relocate this fence without approval from the project arborist. This fencing 
must remain in its approved location throughout demolition and construction.  

Project Arborist contact information: 
Name: 
Business: 
Phone number: 

Bo Firestone
Bo Firestone Trees & Gardens

408-497-7158

pg. 20

A44



ADVERTENCIA: ÁREA DE PROTECCIÓN DE ÁRBOLES 

SÓLO EL PERSONAL AUTORIZADO PUEDE INGRESAR A ESTA ÁREA 

No se permite la excavación, zanjas, almacenamiento de materiales, limpieza, acceso de 
equipos, o vertido de residuos detrás de esta cerca.  

No retire ni reubique esta cerca sin la aprobación del arborista del proyecto. Esta cerca debe 
permanecer en su ubicación aprobada durante todo el proceso de demolición y construcción.  

Información de contacto del arborista de este proyecto: 

Nombre: 
Empresa: 
Número de teléfono: 

Bo Firestone
Bo Firestone Trees & Gardens

408-497-7158

pg. 21

A45



pg. 22

Staubach Residence  01/16/25

#
Heritage 

(H)
Common Name Botanical Name

Protected 
Status

DBH
(inches)

 math. 
DBH

(inches)

Height 
(feet)

Spread
(feet)

Condition
Health, Structure, Form 

notes
Age

Species 
Tolerance

6X DBH*
(feet)

Est. Root 
Loss**

TPZ mult. 
Factor

Ideal TPZ 
Radius (ft) 

Impact 
Level  ***

Suitability
Rating

Removal 
Status

Appraisal 
Result

1 H Sweetgum Liquidambar styraciflua HERITAGE, 
STREET

24 24 55 35 GOOD (75%)
small planting space, 
good vigor, pleasing 

form
MATURE MODERATE 12 10% - 25% 12 24 MODERATE MODERATE PRESERVE $17,000

2 Jacaranda Jacaranda mimosifolia (not heritage) 7 7 30 20 FAIR (50%)
moderate-vigor 
understory tree, 

previously topped
MATURE MODERATE 4 0% - 5% 12 7 VERY LOW MODERATE PRESERVE $580

3 Plum Prunus sp. (not heritage) 7 7 15 10 FAIR (50%) codominant stems, 
against eaves of house

MATURE MODERATE 4 100% 12 7 SEVERE LOW REMOVE (X) $1,070

4 H Sweetgum Liquidambar styraciflua HERITAGE, 
STREET

24 24 60 30 FAIR (50%)
codominant stems with 

narrow angle of 
attachment, good vigor

MATURE MODERATE 12 0% - 5% 12 24 VERY LOW LOW PRESERVE $11,400

5 H Southern Magnolia Magnolia grandiflora HERITAGE 26 26 45 40 GOOD (75%)

good vigor, full green 
canopy, pleasing form, 
treehouse built around 

trunk

MATURE MODERATE 13 10% - 25% 12 26 MODERATE MODERATE PRESERVE $16,500

6 Japanese Maple Acer palmatum (not heritage) 9.5 9.5 20 20 FAIR (50%) moderate vigor, shaded 
by magnolia

MATURE MODERATE 5 10% - 25% 12 10 MODERATE MODERATE PRESERVE $2,850

7 H Coast Live Oak Quercus agrifolia HERITAGE est. 24 24 60 60 FAIR (50%) lion tailed, moderate 
vigor

MATURE HIGH 12 <10% 8 16 LOW LOW PRESERVE $10,700

KEY:

# Neighboring / City Street Tree

Removal Request

SEE GLOSSARY FOR DEFINITION OF TERMS

Appraisal calculations summary available upon request.

TREE INVENTORY - 340 Nova Ln, Menlo Park, CA, 94025                     

TREE IMPACT ASSESSMENT

* 6X DBH is recongnized by tree care industry best practices as the distance from trunkface to a 
cut across the root plate that would result in a loss of approximately 25% of the root mass.  Cuts 
closer than this may result in tree decline or instability. 
**Based on approximate distance to excavation and extent of excavation (as shown on plans). 
**Impact level assumming all basic and special tree protection measures are followed.  

Prepared by Busara Firestone
ISA Board Certified Master Arborist #WE-8525B

RCA #758A46



N
 O

 V
 A

   
L 

A
 N

 E
   

(5
0'

 R
O

W
)

N88°26'00"E   94.48'

N88°26'00"E   94.48'

S
1°

34
'0

0"
E

   
53

.0
0'

LOT 13

LOT 15

SE
TB

AC
KS

5'
 - 

3 
1/

2"
SE

TB
AC

KS
47

' -
 8

 1
/2

"

AD
U

 S
ET

BA
C

K
4'

 - 
0"

S
1°

34
'0

0"
E

   
53

.0
0'

EXISTING 
CENTERLINE OF 
STREET

53
' -

 0
"

94' - 6"

7" NON 
HERITAGE 
TREE

PROPERTY LINE TO STREET CENTERLINE
24' - 10 1/2"

EXISTING EDGE OF 
PAVEMENT

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
9' - 8 1/2"

7' - 7 3/4"
FRONT SETBACK

20' - 0"

PROPOSED 
RESIDENCE 

WATER 
METER

23" HERITAGE 
MAGNOLIA

3" TREE

5" TREE

21" 
HERITAGE 

TREE

EXISTING WATER SUPPLY

EXISTING 7' WOOD FENCE

39.30'

RESIDENCE RAISED 1' OUT 
OF FLOOD PLAIN. 41' BFEPROPOSED 

ATTACHED ADU

EXISTING 7' WOOD FENCE

5'
 - 

5 
3/

4"

8'
 - 

1 
3/

4"

5'
 - 

5 
3/

4"

NEW 
ABOVE 

GROUND 
SPA

AC MOUNTED TO WALL TO COMPLY 
WITH THE NOISE ORDINANCE

2' - 0"

NEW STEPS UP

NEW 
DRIVEWAY 

NEW PORCH

NEW PORCH & STEPS

NEW WOOD DECK

NEW WOOD DECK NEW STONE PATH

20' - 1 1/2"
5'

 - 
5 

3/
4"

17
' -

 7
 3

/4
"

NEW 7' WOOD GATE AND FENCE

NEW GAS METER LOCATION

NEW ELECTRIC METER LOCATION

OVERHEAD ELECTRIC LINE

42'-0
"

42'-0"
42'-0
"

42'-0"

42'-0"

42'-0
"

TANKLESS WATER HEATERS FOR ADU AND 
MAIN HOUSE TO COMPLY WITH THE NOISE 
ORDINANCE

8"

LOW 3' 
STUCCO WALL

NEW 7' GATE AND FENCE

EXISTING 
7' WOOD 
FENCE

C
U

R
B 

C
U

T
20

' -
 0

"

DECK ENCROACHMENT
6' - 0"

NEW SECTION 7' WOOD 
FENCE

5' - 0 3/4"

COBBLE STONE 
PATIO

EXCAVATION TO BE 
LESS THAN 12"

N
EW

 S
ID

EW
AL

K
13

' -
 1

 1
/4

"
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 S
ID

EW
AL

K 
TO

 R
EM

AI
N

39
' -

 1
0 

3/
4"

FURNISH NEW CURB 
AND GUTTER ACROSS 
THE ENTIRE PROPERTY 
FRONTAGE, AND NEW 
SIDEWALK WHERE 
INDICATED

5' 10' 20
'

0'

0
'

12.5' 25' 50'

N
 O

 V
 A

   
L 

A 
N

 E
   

(5
0'

 R
O

W
)

LOT 13

EXISTING 
RESIDENCE 

EXISTING 
RESIDENCE

EXISTING 
RESIDENCE

EXISTING 
ACCESSORY 
BUILDINGS

EXISTING 
RESIDENCE 

EXISTING 
ACCESSOR
Y 
BUILDINGS

HERITAGE SWEET 
GUM

HERITAGE 
MAGNOLIA

NON-HERITAGE 
MAPLE

NON-HERITAGE 
TREE

330

340

350

P 
O

 P
 E

   
S 

T 
R

 E
 E

 T

EXISTING 
RESIDENCE

397

337

333

329

EXISTING 
RESIDENCE

EXISTING 
ACCESSOR
Y 
BUILDINGS

8' -  1 1/ 4"
46 ' - 2 1 /4"

10 ' - 0 1 /4"

3' -  3 3/ 4"

8' -  0"

17
' -

 1
1"

15
' -

 2
 3

/4
"

7'
 - 

0"

29' - 9 1/2"

PROPOSED RESIDENCE PROPOSED 
ATTACHED 

ADU

70' - 11 3/4"

22' - 11" 15
' -

 3
 3

/4
"

20' - 1 1/2" 20
' -

 0
"

11
' -

 1
 1

/2
"

13
' -

 4
"

FIELD INSPECTION REQUIRED

Prior to performing any bidding,
new construction, and/or 
repairs,
general contractor shall visit the
site, inspect all existing
conditions, and report any
discrepancies to the architect.

ISSUE SETS

4709 Red Bluff Road
Austin, TX 78704

««« IF PRINTED AT 11X17, SCALE IS 1/2 OF WHAT IS NOTED »»»

11.14.24

PRELIMINARY 
NOT FOR 

CONSTRUCTION

01.13.25
PERMIT SET

N
 O

 V
 A

   
L 

A 
N

 E

SITE PLANS

A1.0

01.13.25

01.13.25

34
0 

N
O

VA
 L

AN
E,

 M
EN

LO
 P

AR
K,

 9
40

25

COMMENT SET

1/8" = 1'-0"1 PROPOSED SITE PLAN

1" = 20'-0"2 AREA PLAN

DATE DESCRIPTION

  

DATE:  
rev. 01/16/25

TPZ ELEMENTS DRAWN: 
 B. FIRESTONE

ISA BOARD CERTIFIED
MASTER ARBORIST 

#WE-8525B

BASE MAP:  SITE PLAN A0.1
by SIDE ANGLE SIDE

(01/13/2025)

ARBORIST REPORT 
pg. 23

TR
E
E
 P

R
O

TE
C

TI
O

N
 Z

O
N

E
 M

A
P

6
4

0
 N

O
V
A

 L
N

, M
E
N

LO
 P

A
R

K
, C

A

NOTE:  TREES #4H AND #7H WERE PLACED BY PROJECT AR-
BORIST AND LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.  

TPZ MAP LEGEND:

TREE TO REMAIN 

TREE ON NEIGHBORS’  PROPERTY / 
CITY STREET TREE

TREE PROTECTION FENCING (SEE SPEC.)

   n TREE TO REMOVE

 n

   n

TPZ NOTE:  BLUE LINES INDICATE TEMPORARY TPZ LOCATION 
DURING DEMOLITION OF CONCRETE PADS.  PROMPTLY RESTORE 
TPZ FENCING UPON COMPLETION.

Tree protection fencing requirements as required by the City of Menlo Park:

1) Establish tree protection fencing radius by installing six (6)-foot tall chain link fencing mounted on 
eight (8)-foot tall, 1.5-inch diameter galvanized posts, driven 24 inches into the ground and spaced no 
more than 10 feet apart. 

2) Post signs on the fencing (in English and Spanish) printed on 11”x17” yellow-colored paper (signage 
attached) with Project Arborist’s contact information.  Signage should be on each protection fence in a 
prominent location.

3) Movable barriers of chain link fencing secured to cement blocks may be substituted for fixed 
fencing if the Project Arborist and City Arborist agree that the fencing will have to be moved to ac-
commodate certain phases of construction. The builder may not move the fence without authorization 
from the Project Arborist or City Arborist.

4) Place a 6-inch layer of coarse mulch or woodchips covered with ¾-inch plywood or alternative 
within the TPZ over bare ground prior to construction activity.

   2
  5H

   6

4H

   3

7H

1H

A47



LOCATION: 340 Nova 
Lane 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00021 

APPLICANT: Karen 
Staubach 

OWNER: Karen 
Staubach 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

1. The use permit shall be subject to the following standard conditions:

a. The applicant shall be required to apply for a building permit within one year from the
date of approval (by March 10, 2026) for the use permit to remain in effect.

b. Development of the project shall be substantially in conformance with the plans
prepared by Side Angle Side consisting of 15 plan sheets, dated received January 29,
2025 and approved by the Planning Commission on March 10, 2025, except as
modified by the conditions contained herein, subject to review and approval of the
Planning Division.

c. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all Sanitary District,
Menlo Park Fire Protection District, and utility companies’ regulations that are directly
applicable to the project.

d. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall comply with all requirements of the
Building Division, Engineering Division, and Transportation Division that are directly
applicable to the project.

e. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall submit a plan for any new utility
installations or upgrades for review and approval by the Planning, Engineering and
Building Divisions. All utility equipment that is installed outside of a building and that
cannot be placed underground shall be properly screened by landscaping. The plan
shall show exact locations of all meters, back flow prevention devices, transformers,
junction boxes, relay boxes, and other equipment boxes.

f. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit plans indicating that the applicant shall remove and replace any damaged
and significantly worn sections of frontage improvements. The plans shall be submitted
for review and approval of the Engineering Division.

g. Simultaneous with the submittal of a complete building permit application, the applicant
shall submit a Grading and Drainage Plan for review and approval of the Engineering
Division. The Grading and Drainage Plan shall be approved prior to the issuance of
grading, demolition or building permits.

h. Heritage trees in the vicinity of the construction project shall be protected pursuant to
the Heritage Tree Ordinance and the arborist report prepared by Bo Firestone Trees &
Gardens, dated received January 16, 2025.

i. Prior to building permit issuance, the applicant shall pay all fees incurred through staff
time spent reviewing the application.

j. The applicant or permittee shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Menlo
Park or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action, or proceeding
against the City of Menlo Park or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside,
void, or annul an approval of the Planning Commission, City Council, Community
Development Director, or any other department, committee, or agency of the City
concerning a development, variance, permit, or land use approval which action is
brought within the time period provided for in any applicable statute; provided, however,
that the applicant’s or permittee’s duty to so defend, indemnify, and hold harmless shall
be subject to the City’s promptly notifying the applicant or permittee of any said claim,
action, or proceeding and the City’s full cooperation in the applicant’s or permittee’s
defense of said claims, actions, or proceedings.

A48

EXHIBIT D



LOCATION: 340 Nova 
Lane 

PROJECT NUMBER: 
PLN2024-00021 

APPLICANT: Karen 
Staubach 

OWNER: Karen 
Staubach 

PROJECT CONDITIONS: 

k. Notice of Fees Protest – The applicant may protest any fees, dedications, reservations, 
or other exactions imposed by the City as part of the approval or as a condition of 
approval of this development. Per California Government Code 66020, this 90-day 
protest period has begun as of the date of the approval of this application. 

 

A49



City of Menlo Park

340 Nova Lane
Location Map

Date: 3/10/2025 Drawn By:4,000 FNK Checked By: CDS1: Sheet: 1Scale:

ATTACHMENT B

B1



340 Nova Lane – Attachment C: Data Table 

PROPOSED 
PROJECT 

EXISTING 
PROJECT 

ZONING 
ORDINANCE 

Lot area 5,007 sf 5,007 sf 7,000.0 sf min. 
Lot width 53.0 ft. 53.0  ft. 65.0 ft. min. 
Lot depth 94.5 ft. 94.5  ft. 100.0 ft. min. 

Setbacks 
Front 20.2 ft. (Main House) 22.8 ft. 20.0 ft. min. 

58.6 ft.(ADU) 
Rear 27.6 

4.0 
ft.(Main House) 
ft.(ADU) 

37.3 ft. 20.0 ft. min. 

Side (left) 5.5 
5.5 

ft.(Main House) 
ft.(ADU) 

10.0 ft. 5.3 ft. min. 

Side (right) 5.5 ft.(Main House) 4.8 ft. 5.3 ft. min. 
23.5 ft.(ADU) 

Building coverage 1,667 
33.3 

sf* 
%* 

1,671.5 
33.4 

sf 
% 

1,752.45 
35.0 

sf max. 
% max. 

FAL (Floor Area Limit) 3,600 sf* 1,671.5 sf 2,800.0 sf max. 
Square footage by floor 1,072.0 

1,194.0 
408.0 
926.0 

129.0 

sf/1st 
sf/2nd 
sf/garage 
sf/ADU 

sf/porches 

1,236.5 

435.0 

sf/1st 

sf/garage 

Square footage of buildings 3,729 sf 1,671.5 sf 
Building height 28.0 ft. 11.9 ft. 28 ft. max. 
Parking 2 covered 2 covered 1 covered/1 uncovered 

Notes: 
• Areas shown highlighted indicate a nonconforming or substandard situation
• The second-floor FAL should exclude the stair area per the definition of “floor area”,

and staff asked the designer to edit the calculations accordingly, but they opted to
include that area, so it represents a conservative calculation

Trees Heritage trees 4** Non-Heritage trees 3 New Trees 0 
Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

0 Non-Heritage trees 
proposed for 
removal 

1 Total Number of 
Trees 

6 

* Floor area and building coverage for the proposed project includes the ADU, which is 926 square feet in size. Only 800 square feet
of the ADU is allowed to exceed the floor area limit and maximum building coverage. With the ADU and main residence combined,
the floor area limit would be exceeded by 800 square feet and the building coverage would be not exceed the limits.
** Two are street trees.

ATTACHMENT C

C1


	20250310 PC Agenda
	E1_20250224 PC Draft Minutes
	F1_670 Cambridge Ave staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description Letter
	Exhibit C - Arborist Report
	Exhibit D - COA

	ATT B - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table

	F2_340 Nova Lane staff report
	ATT A - Resolution
	Exhibit  A - Project Plans
	Exhibit B - Project Description
	Exhibit C - Arborist Report
	Exhibit D - COA

	ATT B  - Location Map
	ATT C - Data Table


